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TN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

DARRELL CANNON,
Plaintiff, No.05C2192

V.

FORMER CHICAGO POLICELT.
JON BURGE, et af.,

Defendants.
MEMORANDUM QPINION AND ORDER
AMY J. ST. EVE, District Court Judge:

Plaintiff Darrell Canon asserts twelve causes of action against multiple Defendants
alleging various constitutional and state law vioiétions resulting from or related to the torture he
allegedly endured on November 2, 1983, Cannon brings this suit against Jon Burge, John Byme,
Peter Dignan, Michael Bosco, Ray Binkowski, Ray Madigan, Daniel McWeeny, Leroy Martin,
Terry Hillard, Thomas Needham, Gayle Shines, the City of Chicago {(collectively, the “City
Defendants™)!, Richard Devine, thé Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office, and Cook County
(collectively, the “County Defendants”). Plaintiff asserts the following six civil rights violations
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 deprivation of the right to a fair trial and Wmngful conviction (Count T),
false arrest and false imprisonment (Count IT), torture and physical abuse (Count III), coercive

interrogation (Count V), due process violation for deprivation of access to courts (Count V), and

! Canon also sues the Estate of Charles Grunhard. Charles Grunhard was a Chicago
Police Detective assigned to the Detective Division at Area 2 Violent Crimes Unit. (R. 1-1;
Compl. at § 6.) His commanding officer was Jon Burge and his supervisor was John Byrne. (Jd.
at 9 4-5.) The Bstate of Charles Grunhard, however, does not join the City Defendants’ motion
to dismiss. Accordingly, the Court does not refer to the Estate of Charles Grunhard as one of the
City Defendants.
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a Monell policy claim (Count VI). Plaintiff alse asserts the following six state law violations:
false arrest and imprisonment (Count V1I), malicious prosecution (Count VIIT), intentional
infliction of emotional distress (Count IX), conspiracy (Count X), respondeat superior (Count
XI), and an indemnification claim pursuant to 745 ILCS 10/9-102 (West 2005) {Count XII). The
City and County Defendants both move to dismiss the complaint Canon filed on April 13, 2005
(the “Complaint”). For the reasons set forth below, the Court grants in part and denies in part the
City Defendants’ motion to dismiss, and the Court grants in part and denies in part the County
Defendants’ motion to dismiss.
BACKGROUNDI

1. The Partics

A, Plaintiff

Plaintiff Darrell Cannon (“Plaintiff*) is a United States citizen. (R, 1-1; Compl. at § 3.)

B. The City Defendants

Defendant John Burge (“Burge™) was a Chicago Police Lieutenant and the commanding
officer of the Chicago Police Area 2 Detective Violent Crimes Unit. (Jd. at 4.) Burge served
aé the commanding officer of Defendants John Byrne, Peter Dignan, Charles Granhard, Michael
Bosco, Ray Binkowski, Ray Madigan, and Daniel McWeeny. (Id.) In 1988, Leroy Martin
promoted Burge to the position of Commander of Area 3 Detective Division. (/d.) According to
Plaintiff, Burge held this position until 1991, when the Chicago Police Department fired him for
the torfure and abuse of Andrew Wilson. (Jd) Plaintiff alleges that Burge both “engaged in a
pattern and practice of torture and brutality himself, and also supervised, encouraged, sanctioned,

condoned and ratified brutality and torture by other detectives.” (Zd.) Defendant John Byrne
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{(“Byrne™) was Chicago Police Sergeant in the Chicago Police Area 2 Detective Violent Crimes
Unit. (/d. at§ 5.) Byme was the supervisor of Peter Dignan, Charles Grunhard, Michae] Bosco,
Ray Binkowski, Ray Madigan, and Daniel McWeeny, (Id.) Plaintiff alleges that Byrme also
engaged in and encouraged others to engage in the practice of torture and brutality. (/d.)
Defendants Peter Dignan (“Dignan”), Charles Grunhard (“Grunhard™), Michael Bosco
(“Bosco”), Ray Madigan (“Madigan™), Ray Binkowski (“Binkowski”), and Daniel McWeeny
(“McWeeny™) (collectively, the “Defendant Officers™) were Chicago Police Detectives in the
Detective Division at Area 2 Violent Crimes Unit who allegedly engaged in a pattern and
practice of torture and brutality.? (Id. at 9 6.)

Defendant Leroy Martin (“Martin®) was the Superiniendent of Police for the City of
Chicago between 1987 and 1992. (Id. at §7.) In 1983, Martin was Commander of the Area 2
Detective Division, Burge’s direct supervisor, and Byrne’s and the Defendant Officers’
command supervisor. (Id.) Defendant Terry Hillard (“Hillard”) was the Superintendent of
Police for the City of Chicago between 1998 and 2004, (Id. at 9 8.) Hillard was also Thomas
Needham’s direct supervisor. (/d. at §9.) Defendant Thomas Needham (“Needham™) was
counsel to and administrative assistant for Hillard between 1998 and 2002. (/d)) Defendant
Gayle Shines was the Director of the Office of Professional Standards of the Chicago Police
Department from 1990 to 1998, (/d. at ] 10.) Defendant Ciﬁy of Chicago (the “City”) is an

THlinois municipal corporation and is and/or was the employer of Burge, Byrne, the Defendant

? Although Plaintiff does not set forth Binkowski’s job description in the section of the
Complaint labeled “Parties,” the case caption on the Complaint indicates that Binkowski is a
Chicago Police Detective.
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Officers, Martin, Hillard, Needham, and Shines. (/d. atq11.)

C. The County Defendants

Defendant Richard Devine (“Devine”) was counsel to the City of Chicago and
represented Burge from 1988 to 1996, (Id. at 1§ 51, 53.) As counsel for Burge, Plaintiff allsges
that Devine received evidence that Burge tortured suspects. (/d. at § 53.) In 1997, Devine
became the State’s Attorney of Cook County, a position he currently holds. (/d. at § 12.)
Plaintiff alleges that after becoming the State’s Attorney of Cook County, Devine: (1) made false
public statements discrediting evidence of torture; (2) refused to investigate allegations regal-ding
Area 2 and Area 3 detectives’ use of torture and abuse; (3) suppressed evidence of torture,
including evidence of Plaintiff’s torture; and (4) used his position to maintain the wrongful
conviction and imprisonment of Plaintiff and other victims of torture. (/4. at §54.)

Defendant Cook County (the “County”) is a governmental entity within the State of
Iilinois. (Jd. at§ 13.) Defendant Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office is a part of Cook
County and it, along with the County, employ Devine. (/d.)

IL Plaintiff’s Alegations

A, Plaintiff’s Underlying Arrest, Interrogation, Confession, and Prosecution

On or about October 26, 1983, A.D, McChristian shot and killed Darrin Ross. (Jd. at
15.) The Area 2 Violent Crimes Unit, under the supervision and control of Burge and Byrne and
with the participat‘ion of the Defendant Officers, investigated the homicide. (/d)) According to
Plaintiff, Burge and Byrne directed McWeeny and Madigan to threaten and coerce A.D.
McChristian’s brother, Tyrone McChristian, to falsely implicate Plaintiff as an accomplice to the

Ross homicide. (Id. at§16.) McWeeny included Tyrone McChristian’s statement in a police
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report. (Id. atq 17.) Plaintiff alleges that on the morning of November 2, 1983, Byrne, Dignan,
Bosco, and Binkowski, together with three other Area 2 detectives, went to an apartment on the

-south side of Chicago and arrested Plaintiff without probable cause. (Jd, at § 18.) During the
arrest, Byrne used profanity towards Plaintiff and his fiancé and pointed guns at their heads, and
Grunhard assaulted Plaintiff with a crowbar. (/d. at{19.)

Following Plaintiff’s arrest, Dignan, Byrne and Grunhard drove Plaintiff to the area of
80™ and Phillips Streets. (/d. at §20.) During the ride, Plaintiff alleges that Dignan said, among
other things, “nigger, where’s A.D.,”” and hit Plaintiff on his knee with a flashlight. (/d.} Next,
they took Plaintiff to an interrogation room at Area 2, suggested inculpatory answers, showed
Plaintiff an electrical cattle prod, and told him “nigger, you going to tell us where A.D.’s at,”
among other things. (Id. at § 21.) Byrne, Dignan and Grunhard then took Plaintiff to a remote
area by 103% and Totrence Streets, while Bosco and Binkowski followed. (Id. at ] 22.) At that
location, Byine, Dignan and Grunhard took Plaintiff out of the car and questioned him about the
Ross homicide and A.D. McChristian’s whereabouts. (/d. at §23.) According to Plaintiff,
Byine, Dignan and Grunthard then subjected him fo the following forms of torture: (1) performed
mock executions by placing a gun in his mouth and pulling the trigger; (2) attempted to suspend
Plaintiff in the air while he was handcuffed; and (3) used an electric cattle prod on Plaintiff. (Zd.
at 4 24-28.) Throughout the torture, Byrne, Dignan and Grunhard continued to interrogate
Plaintiff about the Ross homicide. (Jd.) Plaintiff alleges that as a result of the torture, he gave a
false and coerced statement to McWeeny and later to the assistant state’s attorney, implicating
himself as an accomplice to the Ross homicide. (/d. at 131, 32.)

Plaintiff alleges that his coerced confession served as evidence throughout his
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prosecution. (Jd. at §35.) Additionally, Byrne, Dignan, Grunhard, Bosco, Binkowski,
McWeeny, and two other Area 2 defectives committed petjury at the suppression hearings and at
trial. (/d. at § 36.) Burge, Byrne, Dignan, Grunhard, McWeeny, Bosco, and Binkowski, along
with others, allegedly suppressed the fact that Plaintiff’s confession was false and the product of
a pattern and practice of torture at Area 2, and destroyed the instruments used in the torture, (Zd.
at§37.) According to Plaintiff, his coerced statement resulted in his 1984 conviction for the
murder of Darrin Ross, (Jd. at§39.)

B. Plaintiff’s 42 U.S.C. § 1983 Action Against Byrne, Dignan and Grunhard

In 1986, Plaintiff filed a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 action against Defendants Byrne, Dignan and
Grunhard alleging violations of Plaintiff’s constitutional rights in connection with the alleged
excessive force used against Plaintiff on November 2, 1983.% (Id. at § 41) (R. 28-1; City Defs.’
Mot, to Dismiss, Ex. C.) On February 8, 1988, Plaintiff entered into a settlement agreement with
the City of Chicago,’ Byrne, Dignan and Grunhard, whereby Plaintiff, who had legal

representation, accepted $3,000 in exchange for dismissing the 1986 action (the “1988

3 Although Plaintiff did not attach the 1986 complaint to the Complaint, the Court may
nevertheless consider the 1986 complaint, which the City Defendants attached to their motion, as
part of the pleadings because Plaintiff refers to the 1986 action in the Complaint and it is central
to his claim. See Venture Assocs. Corp. v. Zenith Data Sys. Corp., 987 F.2d 429, 431 (7" Cir.
1993) (“Documents that a defendant attaches to a motion to dismiss are considered part of the
pleadings if they are referred to in the plaintiffs complaint and are central to her claim.”);
Continental Cas., Co. v. American Nat.’l Ins. Co., 417 F.3d 727, 731 n.2 (7% Cir. 2005) (same).
Also, as the City Defendants note, Plaintiff filed his prior action in September of 1986, not in
1987, as Plaintiff alieges in the Compiaint.

* According to the settlement agreement, the City of Chicago “agree[d] to be made a
party-defendant to this lawsuit for the sole purpose of having a judgment entered against it.” (R.
28-1; City Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. Bat 1.}
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Stipulation™).” (R. 1-1; Compl, at §41.) (R. 28-1; City Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. B.) Plaintiff
alleges that he only accepted the $3,000 settlement because “Defendants successfully
suppressed, destroyed, and covered up their torture of Plaintiff, numerous other cases of torture,
and the implements of torture,” (R, 1-1; Compl. at § 41.)

C. Investigations into Pattern and Practice of Torture at Area 2

On November 7, 1983, the Office of Professional Standards of the Chicago Police
Depariment (the “OPS”) opened an investigation into Plaintiff’s allegations of torture. (/d. at§
38.) The OPS entered “not sustained” findings approximately a year later and neither Martin nor
the OPS took disciplinary actions against the Defendant Officers. (/d.) According to Plaintiff, in
November 1984 and February 1985, OPS Director David Fogel (“Fogel””) secretly provided to
Police Superintendent Fred Rice (“Rice”) summaries of numerous cases of torture that Burge
committed. (Jd. at Y 40.) Rice took no action. (¥4.) Rice, Fogel, their successors, the City and
the City’s lawyers allegedly suppressed these summaries, (/d.) They were uliimately discovered
in an inspection in August 2004, (Id.)

In 1990, after Plaintiff was convicted and entered into the 1988 Stipulation, the OPS
completed an investigation into allegations of torture of suspects, including Plaintitf, at Area 2.
(Id. at § 42.) In a secret report that Martin received, the OPS set forth its findings that from 1973
to 1985, there was a practice of systematic abuse of suspects, including Plaintiff, at Area 2. (Jd.)

This report also stated that Burge and two other Area 2 detectives tortured Andrew Wilson and

S The Court will consider the 1988 Stipulation, which the City Defendants attached to
their motion, as part of the pleadings because Plaintiff refers to this release in the Complaint and
it is central to his claim. See Venture Assocs., 987 F.2d at 431; Continental Cas., 417 ¥.3d at
731 n.2.
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recommended removing Burge from his position. (7d. at §43.) In February 1992, a federal court
ordered the release of the secret report. (/d. at §45.) Plaintiff alleges that following the release
of the repott, Martin and the Mayor attempfed to publically discredit the report. (/d. at §46.)
According to Plaintiff, the Mayor, who served as State’s Attorney of Cook County from 1981 to
1988, had notice of the abuse at Area 2, but refused to prosecute any Area 2 detectives in
connection with such abuse. (7d. at §47.) Additionally, Plaintiff alleges that Martin, Shines and
others refused to investigate other allegations of torture. (Jd. at 4 48.)

In January 1992, Martin and the City admitted that Burge and those under his command
tortured suspects. (/d. at §49.) According to Plaintift, in February 1993, the Chicago Police
Board fired Burge for torturing Andrew Wilson. (fd. at § 50.) Also in 1993, the OPS reopened
investigations into approximately 10 Avea 2 torture cases, included Plaintiff’s. {(#d. at 55.) The
OPS then found that Byrne, Dignan and Grunhard “racially abused and tortured Plaintiff.” (Id.)
Shines allegedly suppressed these findings from 1993 to 1998, when she left office. (Id. at §57.)
According to Plaintiff, in 1998, Hillard and Needham, among other things, overiurned the OPS
findings regarding the torture of Plaintiff and five other individuals and suppressed the OPS
findings from Plaintiff, (/d. at Y 58.)

D. Dismissal of Charges Against Plaintiff

In 1997, an lllinois appellate court ordered that Plaintiff receive a new suppression
hearing so that he could present the newly discoversd evidence of torture. (Id. at §59.) This
hearing commenced in 1999, (Id. at 9§ 60.y At the hearing, Plaintiff presented such evidence of
torture. (Id.} According to Plaintiff, “[t]he State’s Attorney’s Officer, rather than to again elicit

the knowingly false and perjured testimony of the Defendant Officers, dismissed Plaintiffs case
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on April 14,2004.” (Zd.) At the time of his release, Plaintiff had spent twenty-one years in
prison for the murder of Darrin Ross. (/d. at § 63.)
ANALYSIS

L Legal Standard

The City and County Defendants bring their motions to dismiss pursuant to Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). A Rule 12(b){6) motion tests whether plaintiff has “state[d] & claim
upon which relief can be granted.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). When deciding a motion to dismiss
pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), the Court views “the complaint in the light most favorable to the
_ plaintiff, taking as true all well-pleaded factual allegations and making all possible inferences
from those allegations in his or her favor.” Lee v. City of Chicago, 330 F.3d 456, 459 (7" Cir.
2003). The Court, however, is “not obliged to accept as true legal conclusions or unsupported
conclusions of fact.” Hickey v. O’Bannon, 287 F.3d 656, 658 (7" Cir. 2002). The Court will
dismiss a complaint under Rule 12(b)}(6) only if “it is clear that no relief could be granted under
any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations,” Hishon v. King &
Spaulding, 467 1U.S. 69, 73, 104 S. Ct. 2229, 2232, 81 L. Bd. 2d 59 (1984).
II. City Defendants

A, 1988 Seitlement Agreement

The City Defendants ask the Court to dismiss the Complaint on various grounds. The
Court turns first to the purported preclusive effect of a seftlement agreement that Plaintiff entered
into with some of the City Defendants approximately seventeen years prior to filing the
Complaint. In 1986, Plaintiff filed a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 action against Byrne, Dignan and

Grunhard alleging violations of Plaintiff’s constitutional rights in connection with the alleged
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excessive force used against Plaintiff on November 2, 1983. (R. 1-1; Compl. at ] 41) (R. 28-1;
City Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. C,) On February 8, 1988, Plaintiff entered info a settlement
agreement whereby Plaintiff, who was represented by counsel, accepted $3,000 in exchange for
dismissing the 1986 action against Byrne, Dignan and Grunhard. (R. 1-1; Compl, at §41) (R.
28-1; City Defs.” Mot, to Dismiss, Ex. B.) The City Defendants argue that “Plaintiff’s claims in
this action are barred by the settlement of his 1986 lawsuit, which was based upon the same
events that underlie his present complaint.” (R. 26-1; City Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss at 4.) Plaintiff
argues that the 1988 Stipulation does not cover the claims he asserts in the Complaint and that
the 1988 Stipulation is not valid or enforceable, The Court addresses the scope and the
enforceability of the 1988 Stipulation individually, |
1. Scope of the 1988 Stipulation

Plaintiff and the City Defendants agree that Illinois law governs the interpretation of the
1988 Stipulation, In Illinois, “[i]t is well settled that a release, being a contract whereby a party
abandons a claim to a person against whom that claim exists, is subject to rules governing the
construction of contracts.” Chubb v. Amax Coal Co., Inc., 125 [11. App. 3d 682, 685, 466 N.E.2d
369, 372, 80 111 Dec. 917, 920 (5™ Dist. 1984); see aiso Laserage Tech. Corp. v. Laserage Labs.,
Inc., 972 F.2d 799, 802 (7" Cir. 1992). “The intention of the parties, therefore, controls the scope
and etfect of the release, and this intent is discerned from the language used and the
circumstances of the transaction.” Chubb, 125 Ill. App. 3d at 686, 466 N.E.2d at 372, 80 Il
Dec. at 920. “A release cannot be construed to include claims not within fhe contemplation of
the parties.” Carlile v. Snap-on Too{s, 271 111 App. 3d 833, 838, 648 N.E.2d 317, 321, 207 1l

Dec. 861, 865 (4™ Dist. 1995) (citations omitted). “Where a written agreement is clear and

10
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explicit, a court must enforce the agreement as written, Both the meaning of the instrument, and
the intention of the parties must be gathered from the face of the document without the assistance
of parol evidence or any other extrinsic aids.” Rakowski v. Lucerte, 104 T11.2d 317, 323, 472
N.E.2d 791, 794, 84 [1l. Dec. 654, 657 (11l. 1984).

The 1988 Stipulation, on its face, is clear and unambiguous. Tt provides that

Plaintiff understands, upon advice of his counsel, and agrees that such Judgment is a final

and total settlement of all claims he has, or may have in the future, arising either directly

or indirectly out of the incident which was the basis of this litigation, and that such

finality is applicable to the remaining Defendant, the City of Chicago, its officers, agents

and employees.
(R. 28-1; City Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. B at 1 12.) Because the 1988 Stipulation is clear,
unambiguous and specific, the Court will look to the document itself to determine its meaning
and the parties’ intent. See Rakowski, 104 111.2d at 323, 472 N.E.2d at 794,_ 84 Tll. Dec. at 657,
see also Ainsworth Corp. v. Cenco Inc., 158 1. App. 3d 639, 650, 511 N.E.2d 1148, 1156, 110
I, Dec. 829, 836 (1* Dist. 1987); Crown Corr, Inc. v Wil-Freds Constr., Inc., No. 94-6535,
2000 WL 1809996, at *3 (N.D. 11l. Dec. 11, 2000); Rail-Ways, Inc. v. Indiana & Kensington R.R.
Co., No. 95-1526, 1998 WL 792481, at *4 (N.D. 1ll. Nov. 9, 1998). The 1988 Stipulation, on its
face, releases all claims that arise directly or indirectly from the “incident.” The 1986 complaint

makes clear that the “incident” is Byrne’s, Dignen’s and Grunhard’s treatment of Plaintiff on

November 2, 1983.° (R. 28-1; City Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss, Ex, C at 3.) Likewise, Plaintiffs

8 Specifically, the 1986 complaint alleges that on November 2, 1983: (1) Byrne,
Grunhard and Dignen damaged Plaintiff’s apartment and personal possessions, and arrested
Plaintiff; (2) Dignen forced Plaintiff to play “Russian Roulette” while he asked Plaintiff
questions; (3) Byrne, Grunhard and Dignen lifted Plaintiff in the air while he was handcuffed;
(4) Byrne used an electric cattle prod on Plaintiff while he asked Plaintiff about a murder case;
and (5) Bytne used racial slurs when he addressed Plaintiff. (R. 28-1; City Defs.” Mot. to
Dismiss, Ex. C at 3.)

11
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treatment on November 2, 1983 serves as the basis for the Complaint. (See, e.g., R. 1-1; Compl.
at 1 18-30.) Because the “incident” serves as the basis for the Complaint, the twelve causes of
action Plaintiff asserts in it necessarily arise either directly or indirectly from the “incident,”
Therefore, the 1988 Stipulation, on its face, purports to cover those causes of action.

Plaintiff does not aréue that the 1988 Stipulation is ambiguous, nor does he contest that
the twelve causes of action he alleges in the Complaint arise direcily or indirectly from the
“incident.” stead, Plaintiff argues that an examination of the civcumstances surrounding the
execution of the 1988 Stipulation reveals that the parties did not intend o release the claims that
ate currently before the Court. As addressed above, the Court does not look to extrinsic
evidence to determine the parties’ intent because the 1988 Stipulation, on its face, islciear and
explicit. See, e.g., Rakowski, 104 111.2d at 323, 472 N.E.2d at 794, 84 IlI. Dec. at 657.

Plaintiff also argues that “Tllinois courts have repeatedly and unequivocally held that a
release ‘will not be extended to cover claims that may arise in the future.”” (R. 54-1; PL’s Resp.
to City Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss at 5) (citing Chubb, 125 I11. App. 3& at 686, 466 N.E.2d at 372, 80
It Dee. at 920.) Plaintiff’s quote from the Chubb case is incomplete. Chubb states that “where
the language of the relea.s'é is directed to claims then in existence, it will not be extended to
cover claims that arise in the future.” 125 Ill. App. 3d at 686, 466 N.E.2d at 372, 80 IIl. Dec. at
920 (emphasis added). At issue in Chubb was whether a release, which purported to cover only
causes of action that existed as of the date of the release, applied to an injury that occurred

approximately two years after the exceution of the release.” Here, the 1988 Stipulation

? Plaintiff also cites to Carona v. Hlinois Central R.R. Co., 203 111, App. 3d 947, 561
N.E.2d 239, 148 TIl. Dec. 933 (5™ Dist. 1990), which is similarly distingnishable from this case.
In Carona, “the plaintiff ha{d] filed a claim based upon a separate and distinct accident from the

1

12
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specifically states that it applies to claims that Plaintiff may have in the future. Plaintifs
arguments, therefore, are unavailing. For the reasons set forth above, the 1988 Stipulation
covers the twelve causes of action Plaintiff currently brings before the Court.
2. Enforceability of the 1988 Stipulation

Plaintiff argues that even if the 1988 Stipulation does, on its face, purport to release all of
the claims set forth in the Complaint, his claims nevertheless survive because the 1988
Stipulation is invalid an unenforceable. Under Illinois law, “[o|nce the defendant ostablishes the
existence of a release, legal and binding on its face, the burden shifts to the plaintiffto prove it
invalid by clear and convincing evidence.” Simmons v. Blauw, 263 Ill. App. 3d 8§29, 832, 635
N.E.2d 601, 603, 200 1L Dec. 262, 264 (1* Dist. 1994). A release is invalid, and the Court will
not enforce it, if “there has been fraud, duress, mutual mistake, or, at least in some cases,
| unconscionability.” Carlile, 271 111, App. at 839, 648 N.E.2d at 322, 207 T1I. Dec. at 866,
Plaintiff alleges sufticient allegations of fraud to render the 1988 Stipulation invalid at this stage _
of the [itigation. Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that his tortured confession was the prosecution’s
only evidence against him at the 1984 criminal trial, and served as the basis for his underlying
conviction, (R. I-1; Compl. at §39.) Plaintiff further alleges that at the time of his criminal
trial, certain of the City Defendants acted individually and together to suppress evidence of his
torture and the torture of other suspects in Area 2, and to deceive the prosecuting attorneys and
Jjudges. (/d. at 9§37, 65.) Additionally, Plaintiff alleges that in November 1984 and February

1985 Fogel, the OPS Director, secretly provided to Rice, the Police Superintendent, summaries

incident particularized in the executed release.” 203 Il App. 3d at 952, 561 N.E.2d at 243, 148
111, Dee, at 937,
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of numetous cases of torture that Burge committed. (/4. at §40.) According to Plaintiff, Rice,
Fogel, their successors, the City, and the City’s lawyers acted individually and together to
suppress that exculpatory evidence. (/d.) Therefore, at the time Plaintiff brought his 1986
action, he did not have access fo the suppressed evidence of his torture or the torture of other
Area 2 suspects. Accepting Plaintiff’s allegations as true and drawing all inferences in his favor,
as the Court mus, these allegations of fraud are sufficient to invalidate the 1988 Stipulation,
Bell v. City of Milwaukee, 746 .24 1205 (7™ Cir. 1984) (rev 'd on other grounds, Russ v.
Watts, 414 F.3d 783 (7" Cir, 2005)) lends support. In Bell, the Seventh Circuit affirmed the
district court’s holding that a settlement agreement did not bar a cause of action where the record
was “‘replete with allegations of fraud, concealment and a broad-based cover-up on the part of
the defendants Milwaukee Police Department, Howard Johnson, Edwin Shaffer, Thomas Grady,
and the Office of the Milwaukee County District Attorney.” Id. at 1227 (citing Bell v. City of
Milwaikee, 514 F. Supp. 1363, 1368-69 (E.D. Wis. 1982)). The district court in Bell, in ruling
on a summary judgment motion, explained that
the fraud in this case is sufficient to nullify an otherwise valid settlement and
dismissal. This is not a case in which the defendant simply lied and thereby
made the plaintiff's proof of his case difficult, Rather, this is a case of massive
conspiracy by high ranking Milwaukee officials to prevent the disclosure of the
true facts of the shooting of Daniel Bell. Given the monopoly on force held by

the government, this conspiracy prevented the proper functioning of the judicial
system.

Bell v. City of Milwaukee, 536 F. Supp. 462, 465-66 (E.D. Wis. 1982). This reasoning, with
which the Seventh Circuit agreed, applies with equal force to this case, Accordingly, the City

Defendants’ argument that the 1988 Stipulation bars Plaintiff’s claims fails.
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B. Statute of Limitations
1. Section 1983 Claims

The City Defendants argue that the applicable statute of limitations bars Counis I (§ 1983
due process claim), I1 (§ 1983 false arrest and false imprisonment claim), 1 (§ 1983 excessive
force claim), and TV (§ 1983 coercive interrogation claim), and Plaintiff’s § 1983 conspiracy
claims. Because § 1983 does not set forth a limitations period, “a federal court must adopt the
forum state’s statute of limitations for personal injury claims.” Ashafa v. City of Chicago, 146
F.3d 459, 461 (7" Cir, 1998) (citing Wilson v. Garcia, 471 U.S. 261, 276, 105 S, Ct. 1938, 1947,
85 L. Ed. 2d 254 (1985)). “['T]he appropriate statute of limitations for § 1983 cases filed in
Hlinois is two years as set forth in 735 ILCS § 5/13-202.” Id. Although state law governs the
length of the statute of limitations period, federal law governs when § 1983 claims accrue,
Wilson v. Giesen, 956 F.2d 738, 740 (7" Cir. 1992). The City Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s §
1983 ¢laims accrued when the alleged misconduct occurred and are, therefore, time-barred.
Their analysis, however, completely overlooks the impact of Heck v. Humphrey, 512 U.S. 477,
114 8. Ct. 2364, 129 L. Ed. 2d 383 (1994), on Plaintift’s § 1983 claims. In Heck, the Supreme
Court held that

in order to recover damages for allegedly unconstitutional conviction or imprisonment, or

for other harm caused by actions whose unlawfulness would render a conviction or

sentence invalid, a § 1983 plaiatiff must prove that the conviction or sentence has been

reversed on direct appeal, expunged by executive order, declared invalid by a state

tribunal authorized to make such determination, or called into question by a federal

court's issuance of a writ of habeas corpus, 28 U.S.C. § 2254, A claim for damages

bearing that relationship to a conviction or sentence that has nof been so invalidated is

not cognizable under § 1983, Thus, when a state prisoner seeks damages ina § 1983 suit,

the district court must consider whether a judgment in favor of the plaintiff would

necessarily imply the invalidity of his conviction or sentence; if it would, the complaint

must be dismissed unless the plaintiff can demonstrate that the conviction or sentence has
already been invalidated. But if the district court determines that the plaintiff's action,
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gven if successful, will not demonstrate the invalidity of any ouistanding criminal

Jjudgment against the plaintiff, the action should be allowed to proceed, in the absence of

some other bar to the suit.

512 U.S. at 486-87, 114 S. Ct. 2372-73 (footnotes omitted) (emphasis in original). Under Heck,
if a judgment in favor of Plaintiff on his § 1983 claims “would necessarily imply the invalidity of
his conviction or sentence,” Plaintiff’s claims would be timely because he could not have
brought those claims before April 14, 2004, the date the Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office
dismissed charges against him.® 512 U.8, at 487, 114 S. Ct. at 2372.

0 Due Process Claim (Count I}

In this case, a judgment in favor of Plaintiff on his § 1983 due process claim would
“necessarily imply the invalidity of his conviction.” Heck, 512 U.S. at 487, 114 S. Ct. at 2372.
Plaintiff’s due process claim alleges a deprivation of a right to a fair trial and wrongful
conviction. On its face, this claim directly contests the validity of Plaintiff’s underlying
conviction. Therefore, in accordance with Heck, Plaintiff’s due process claim is timely becavse
it did not accrue until April 14, 2004, See id. at 489-90, 114 S. Ct. at 2374 (*a § 1983 cause of

action for damages attributable to an unconstitutional conviction or sentence does not accrue

until the conviction or sentence has been invalidated™); see alse Howard v. City of Chicago, No.

¥ For the first time in their reply, the City Defendants argue that Heck is not applicable
because Plaintiff already brought certain constitutional claims before Judge Hart in his 1986 suit.
The City Defendants do not support this argument with citations to any case law. Their failure to
support this argument with any legal authority waives it. See United States v, Berkowitz, 927
F.2d 1376, 1384 (7" Cir. 1991) (“We repeatedly have made clear that perfunctory and
undeveloped arguments, and arguments that are unsupported by pertinent authority, are
waived.”); see also Estate of Moreland v. Dieter, 395 F.3d 747, 759 (7" Cir, 2005) (“Perfunctory
or undeveloped arguments are waived.”). Moreover, this argument is waived because it was
raised for the first time on reply. See Luellen v. City of East Chicago, 350 F.3d 604, 612 n.4 (7"
Cir. 2003).
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03-8481, 2004 WL 2397281, at *8 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 25, 2004) (holding that “the accrual of .
Plaintiff*s claim under due process was postponed by Heck until Howard was pardoned™).

(ii) False Arrest and False Imprisonment Claims (Count I)

Similarly, Plaintiff could not have raised his § 1983 false arrest and false imprisonment

claims without challenging the validity of his underlying conviction. Plaintiff alleges that
certain of the City Defendants falsely arrested and falsely imprisoned him, and that following his
arrest, they tortured him until he provided a confession. According to Plaintiff, this coerced
confession was the sole basis for his 1984 conviction, Therefore, Plaintiffs false arrest and false
imprisonment claims are timely because Plaintiff would have impugned the validity of his
underlying conviction if he had raised these c¢laims prior to April 14, 2004, See Gauger v.
Hendle, 349 ¥.3d 354, 361 (7™ Cir. 2003) (“For Gauger to mount an atiack based on 42 U.S.C. §
1983 on his arrest was implicitly to challenge the legality of his conviction, which rested
crucially on the statements that he made to the police when he was questioned after being
arrested.”™).

(iif)  Excessive Force and Coereive Interrogation Claims (Counts
I, 1V)

Heck likewise applies to Plaintiff’s excessive force and coercive interrogation claims. As
stated above, Plaintiff alleges that his “coerced and fabricated ‘confession” was presented by the
prosecution as the only evidence against hir at the 1984 trial and provided the basis for his
conviction.” (R. 1-1; Compl. at § 39.) Accordingly, Plaintiff could not have raised claims
regarding the excessive force and coercion used during his interrogation without necessarily
implying the invalidity of his underlying conviction. See Howard, 2004 WI, 2397281, at *7

(“Since Howard’s conviction rested almost entirely on his involuntary confession plus the
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alleged coerced witness testimony, we conclude that Howard could not have challenged
Defendants’ acts of torturing him and fabricating his confession without necessarily implying the
invalidity of his conviction.”); Patterson v. Burge, 328 F. Supp. 2d 878, 897 (N.D. IlL. 2004)
(same); Orange v. Burge, No. 04-(168, 2005 WL 742641, at *7 (N.D. IIl. Mar, 30, 2005) (same),
Therefore, Plaintiff’s § 1983 due process, false arrest, false imprisonment, excessive force, and
coercive interrogation claims are timely because under Heck, Plaintiff could not have brought
these claims prior to April 14, 2004,

(iv)  Conspiraey Claims (Counts I-V}

In Counts | through V, Plaintiff alleges that cetiain of the City Defendants acted
*individually, jointly, and in conspiracy” to cause the violations undetlying these § 1983 claims.
(R. 1-1; Compl, at 1 68, 71, 74, 78, 81.) Because the Court finds that these underlying causes of
action are timely, Plaintiff®s conspiracy claims based on the causes of action are also timely. See
Hobley v. Burge, No. 03-3678, 2004 WL 1243929, at *8 (N.D. II1, June 3, 2004) (“Hobley )
(citing Castillo v. Zuniga, No. 01-616, 2002 WL 398519, at *10 (N.D. Ill, Mar. 14, 2002))
(“because we found that both Hobley’s false arrest claim and his due process claim for the
deprivation of his right to a fair trial were timely, the éonspiracy to deprive him of those rights is
also timely™); Howard, 2004 WL 2397281, at *11 (same). Moreover, Heck applies to Plaintiff’s
§ 1983 conspiracy claims, Howard, 2004 WL 2397281, at *11; Hobley I, 2004 WL 1243929, at
*8. Plaintiff’s § 1983 conspiracy claims allege that the City Defendants conspired to, among
other things, deprive him of his right to a fair trial, falsely arvest and imprison him and
coercively interrogate him. Therefore, under Heck, Plainiiff could not have pursued his

conspiracy claims without implying the invalidity of his underlying conviction.

18

SA 18 of 76



Case; 12-1529  Document; 18-2 Filed: 08/08/2012  Pages: 79
Case: 1:05-cv-02192 Document #: 88 Filed: 02/02/06 Page 19 of 45 PagelD #:568

2, State Law Claims
(i) False Arrest and False Imprisonment Claims (Count VII)

The City Defendants argue that Plaintiff”s state law false arrest and false imprisonment
claims are time-barred. They make no effort, however, to separate their arguments regarding
Plaintiff’s § 1983 claims and his state law claims, and they do not provide the Court with any
pertineﬁt case law. As such, the City Defendants waive their argument that Plaintiff’s state law
false arrest and false imprisonment claims are untimely. See Berkowitz, 927 F.2d at 1384 (“We
repeatedly have made clear that perfunctory and undeveloped arguments, and arguments that are
unsupported by pertinent authority, are waived.”); see also Estate of Moveland, 395 F.3d at 759
(“Perfunctory or undeveloped arguments are waived.”)

(ii)  Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress Claim (Count IX)

The City Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s intentional infliction of emotional distress
claim is time-barred. The Court disagrees, Courts in the Northern District of Tllinois “have
consistently held that the statute of limitations on an [intentional infliction of emotional distress]
claim does not begin to run until the state criminal proceedings are terminated.” Hobley v.
Burge, No. 03-3678, 2004 WL 2658075, at *9 (N.D. IlL. Oct. 13, 2004) (“Hobley IP*) (citing
Hobley I, 2004 WL 1243929, at *9 (citing cases)); see also Orange, 2005 WL 742641, at *%8-9;
Howard, 2004 WL 2397281, at #*¥14-15, The City Defendants ask the Coutt to reexamine this
body of case law in light of the Seventh Circuit’s decision in Leavell v. Kieffer, 189 I.3d 492 (7®
Cir, 1999). The court in Orange correctly rejected this argument. In Orange, Judge Holderman
explained that Leavell is distinguishable beoausé it “discusses the applications of statute of

limitations in a Bivens action brought by taxpayers against the IRS employee who conducted an
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audit of the taxpayers.” Orange, 2005 WL 742641 at *9 (citation omitted). Judge Holderman
further noted that because the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress is an Illinois state
law tort, the court must follow the decisions of the Hlinois Supreme Court, such as Feltmeier v.
Feltmeier, 207 Tl 2d 263, 798 N.E.2d 75, 278 1ll. Dec. 228 (111. 2003). Id. In Feltmeier, the
Ilinois Supreme Court held that “the continuing tort rule should be extended to apply in cases of
intentional infliction of emotional distress,” and as such, “a plaintiff*s cause of action accrues,
and the state of limitations begins to run, at the time the last injurious act occurs or the conduct is
abated.” 207 Jll. 2d at 284-85, 798 N.E.2d at 88-89. 'The Court agrees with the analysis set forth
in Orange and declines the City Defendants’ request that it reexamine the case law in the
Northern District of Ulinois regarding accrual of intentional infliction of emotional distress
claims. Because Plaintiff’s intentional infliction of emotional distress claim did not accrue until
the Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office dismissed the charges against Plaintiff on April 14,
2004, it is timely.

(iti)  Conspiracy Claim (Count X)

Thé City Defendants argue that the Court should dismiss Plaintiffs state law conspiracy
claim as untimely. The only case they cite to support this argument is Pitts v. City of Kankakee,
Minois, 267 F.3d 592 (7% Cir. 2001). Pitts is a case involving a § 1983 claim of defamation to
retaliate for exercising First Amendment rights. It does not address the issue of when an Illinois
state law conspiracy claim accrues for sfatute of limitation purposes. The City Defendants’
failure fo provide the Court with a developed legal argument or pertinent case law waives their
argument that Count X is untimely. See Berkowitz, 927 F.2d at 1384 (*We repeatedly have made

clear that perfunctory and undeveloped argoments, and arguments that are unsupported by
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pertinent authority, are waived.”).

C. Deprivation of Access to the Courts (Count V)

Count V alleges that “Plaintiff has lost his Fourth, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendment
claims of torture and coercive interrogation against some or all of the Defendants by accepting a
settlement of his 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim for a tiny fraction of what his claim is actually worth.”
(R. 1-1; Compl. at § 81.) Inhis response, Plaintiff asserts that if the Court finds that the 1988
Stipulation bars some or all of the causes of action Plaintiff currently brings before the Court,
such a finding would deny him his constitutional right of access to the courts, Therefore,
according to Plaintiff, his denial of access claim as to the City Defendants is only viable if the
Court finds that the 1988 Stipulation bars his current claims. As stated above, the Court holds
that the 1988 Stipulation does not bar any of the claims he asserts in the Complaint. For this
reason, and the reasons stated below in section IT{, F of the argument section of the Opinion, the
Court dismisses Count V as to the City Defendants.

D. Due Process Claim (Count I)

Count I alieges that certain of the City Defendants “unconstitutionally depriv[ed]
Plaintiff of his liberty and violat[ed] his right to a fair and impartial trial and not to be wrongfully
convicted, as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment.” (R, 1-1; Compl. at § 68.) The City
Defendants move to dismiss Count I for two reasons. First, the City Defendants assert that
Plaintiff cannot base his due process claim on the existence of a Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83,
83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L, Ed. 2d 215 (1963), violation because no such violation occurred. Second,
they argue that Plaintiff’s allegations in support of Count 1 only allege malicious prosecution and

false imprisonment claims, not a violation of Plaintiff’s constitutional right to due process.
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L. Brady Violation

“In practical terms, a Brady violation has three cé;mponents: (1) the evidence at issue
must be favorable to the accused, meaning either exculpatory or impeaching; (2) the evidence
must have been suppressed by the state, either willfully or inadvertently; and (3) prejudice must
have ensued,” Patferson, 328 ¥, Supp. 2d at 889 (citing Strickler v. Greene, 527 U S. 263, 281-
82, 119 8. Ct, 1936, 1948, 114 L. Bd. 2d 286 (1999)). Brady violations may occur not only
during a trial, but also before and after trial. Id. (citations omitted). The failure to comply with
Brady results in a due process violation, See Newsome v. McCabe, 256 F.3d 747, 752 (7" Cir,
2001).

The City Defendants, relying on Gauger, argue that Plaintiff cannot asseit a Brady
violation because Plaintiff was aware of the allegedly suppressed exculpatory evidence, namely
the fact that certain of the City Defendanis tortured him and coerced him into providing a
confession. Under the City Defendants® theory, Brady does not require the disclosure of
evidence of which Plaintiff is already aware. In Gauger, the plaintiff argued that Brady
“required the detectives to give truthful versions of Gauger’s statements at the interrogation to
the prosecutors to be forwarded to his counsel at his criminal trial.” Gauger, 349 F.3d at 360.
The Seventh Circuit, however, held that the obligation under Brady to provide criminal
defendants with exculpatory evidence “falls out, because Gauger knew what he had said at the
interrogation,” ld, Gauger, however, is distinguishable from this case because in Gauger, the
alleged Brady violation “was based entirely on evidence obtained during the state’s interrogation
of the accused.” Howard, 2004 WL 2397281, at *9. In this case, as in Patterson, Orange and

Howard, Plaintiff alleges that the purported Brady violation results from obstructions of justice
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that took place both inside and outside of the interrogation room. See Orange, 2005 WL, 742641,
at *11; Patterson, 328 ¥, Supp. 2d at 889; Howard, 2004 W1, 2397281, at *9. Specifically,
Plaintiff alleges that certain of the City Defendants, acting individually, jointly and in
conspiracy,
caused the wrongful charging, prosecution, and conviction of Plaintiff . . . [and] caused
the continuation of that wrongful conviction, by coercing, constructing and/or fabricating
the false and totally unreliable statements which formed the basis for Plaintiff’s charging,
prosecution and conviction; by withholding from the prosccutors, judges and defense
attorneys involved in Plaintiff’s prosecution the fact that these admissions were false,
totally unreliable, constructed, and coerced; by suppressing additional exculpatory and
exonerating torture findings and evidence, as well as other exculpatory evidence; by
giving a false and incomplete version of events to prosecutors; by writing false repotts
and giving false testimony; by improperly influencing the judges hearing Plaintiff’s case,
inter alia, by obstructing investigations which would have led to discovery of further
exculpatory evidence
(R. 1-1; Compl. at 4 68.) Accordingly, Plaintiff’s knowledge of what transpired in the
interrogation room does not relieve the City Defendants of their obligation under Brady to
disclose exculpatory evidence regarding what transpired outside the interrogation room, or
preclude the Court from finding the existence of a Brady viclation,” See Orange, 2005 WL
742641, at *11; Patterson, 328 . Supp. 2d at 890; Howard, 2004 WL 2397281, at *10.
2. State Remedies
The City Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s allegations in Count I only allege claims of

false imprisonment and malicious prosecution. They further assert that McCann v. Mangialardi,

337 F.3d 782 (7" Cir. 2003), which relied on Newsome, prevents Plaintiff from converting his

? On reply, the City Defendants argue that the Illinois Supreme Court’s decision in
Peapie v. Orange, 195 111.2d 437, 749 N.E.2d 932, 255 TIL Dec. 450 (1II. 2001), precludes the
Court from finding that Plaintiff has set forth sufficient allegations to find a Brady violation.
Because the City Defendants do not raise this argument until their reply, they waive the
argument. See Luelfen, 350 F.3d at 612 n4,
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{alse imprisonment and malicious prosecution claims info a constitutional due process claim.
MeCeann held that plaintiffs cannot “combinfe] what are essentially claims for false arrest undet
the Fourth Amendment and state law malicious prosecution into a sort of hybrid substantive due
process claim under the Fourteenth Amendment.” 337 F.3d at 786. Newsome and McCann,
however, do not preclude Plaintiff from asserting his due process claim because they “do[] not
bar § 1983 claims arising under the language of the constitution itself.” ;Dailem'on, 328 F. Supp.
2d at 890 (citing Newsoine, 256 F.3d at 751). In Newsome, the Seventh Circuit explained that
even though “satisfying the elements of the state-law tort of malicious prosecution . . . knocks
oui any constitutional tort of malicious prosecution,” the plaintiff did “have a due process claim
in the original sense of the phrase-he did not receive a fair trial if the prosecutors withheld
material exculpatory details.” 256 F.3d at 751-52 (emphasis in original). In this case, Plaintiff
alleges that Defendants coerced, constructed and/or fabricated false statements, withheld the fact
that these statements were false from the prosecutors, judges and defense attorneys involved in
Plaintiff’s prosecution, and suppressed exculpatory and exonerating evidence in violation of his
rights under the Fourteenth Amendment. These allegations are sufficient at this stage in the
litigation to allege a deprivation of Plaintiff’s right to a fair trial, which arises from the
Constitution itself. See Patterson, 328 F. Supp. 2d at 891 (“Patterson’s accusations in Count I
assert a deprivation of his right to a fair trial which is derived directly from the constitution’s
guarantee of due process; as such, the clams are not barred by Newsome™); Orange, 2005 WL
742641, at * 13 (same); Howard, 2004 WL 2397281, at *9 (“Howard’s claims . . . atise from
allegations that Defendants concealed exculpatory evidence ﬁ‘om prosecutors, thereby denying

him the right to a fair trial. Becanse Defendants have not identified a state law claim that
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addresses Howard’s particular due process claims, he cannot be precluded from asserting a
constitutional tort claim on this basis.”); Hobley I, 2004 WL 1243929, at *1¢ (same).
Accordingly, the Court denies the City Defendants’ motion to dismiss Count I

E. Malicious Prosecution Claim (Count VIII)

Count VIIT alleges a malicious prosecution claim against Burge, Byrne, Dignan,
Grunhard, McWeeny, Bosco, Binkowski, Madigan, Martin, Devine, Shines, Hillard, and
Needham. Under Illinois law, “to establish a malicious prosecution action, the plaintiff must
allege facts showing: ‘(1) the commencement or continuance of an original criminal or civil
judicial proceeding by the defendant; {2) the termination of the proceeding .i'l’.l favor of the
plaintiff; (3) the absence of probable cause for such proceeding; (4) the presence of malice; and
(5) damages resulting to the plaintiff’” Swick v. Liauioud, 169 111.2d 504, 512, 662 N.E.2d
1238, 1242, 215 UL Dec. 98, 102 (111, 1996) (quoting Joiner v. Benton Cmty. Bank, 82 111.2d 40,
45, 44 111 Dec. 260, 263, 411 NLE.2d 229, 232 (111, 1980) (quotation omitted)); Fabiano v. City
of Palos Hills, 336 111. App. 3d 635, 641, 784 N.E.2d 258, 265, 271 TI. Dec. 40, 47 (1* Dist.
2002).

The City Defendants challenge Count VIII only as to Martin, Shines, Hillard, and Needham.
They argue that Plaintiff fails to assert an actionable malicious prosecution claim against these
Defendants because Plaintiff does not allege that they investigated the underlying murder of
Darrin Ross, took an active part in his prosecution, appeared as witnesses at PlaintifPs trial,
demonstrated how they continued a prosecution against Plaintiff, or played the required
prominent role in the alleged malicious prosecution. In essence, the City Defendants argue that

Plaintiff fails to adequately allege the first element of a malicious prosecution claim --
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defendant’s commencement or continuance of the underlying judicial proceeding.

In support of his malicious prosecution claim, Plaintiff specifically alleges that certain of
the City Defendants, including “Martin, individually, jointly, and in conspiracy, initiated a
malicious prosecution without probable cause against Plaintiff, and these same Defendants,
together with Defendants Devine, Shines, Hillard, and Needham, individually, jointly, and in
conspiracy, continued said prosecution, again without probable canse.” (R. 1-1; Compl. at § 93.)
Futthermore, Plaintiff alleges that in 1983, Martin, along with other Defendants, “suppressed
from the prosecutors who prosecuted Plaintiff, from the judges and juries who heard the case,
and from the prosecutors and judges who prosecuted and heard Plaintiff’s appeals and motions to
suppress, that the admissions they attributed to Plaintiff were false and totally unreliable . . .
[and] suppressed, committed perjury about, and destroyed the physical implements of [the]
pattern and practice of torture.” (Jd., at 137.) Plaintiff also alleges that Martin undermined and
suppressed the OPS report, which stated that from 1973 to 1985 there was a practice of abusing
suspects, including Plaintiff, at Avea 2. (Id. at §§ 42, 44, 45.) Plaintiff further alleges that Martin
and Shines refused to investigate allegations of police torture and that Shines suppressed
evidence of torture. (/d. at §Y 48, 57.) Additionally, Plaintiff alleges that Hillard and Needham
“violated police regulations and obstructed justice by overturning the OPS sustained findings in
Plaintiffs and the other five re-opened cases; by refusing to investigate other torture victims’
claims that they had been tortured; by refusing to investigate OPS Director Gayle Shines’

suppression of evidence, and by suppressing these OPS files and findings from Plaintiff and
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other criminal defendants.”™® (Jd, at 9 58.) These allegations satisfy Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 8(a)’s requirements. Accordingly, the Court denies the City Defendants’ motion to
dismiss Count VIIL!

F. Conspiracy Claims (Count X, I-V)

The City Defendants next move to dismiss Plaintiff’s conspiracy claims. As stated
above, Count X specifically alleges a conspiracy claim under Illinois state law, and Counts 1
though V allege that certain of the City Defendants acted “individually, jointly and in
conspiracy” to cause various § 1983 violations. (R, 1-1; Compl. at 9§ 68, 71, 74, 78, 8§1.) The
City Defendants raise two main challenges to Plaintiff’s conspiracy claims: (1) Plaintiff’s
allegations are insufficient to support any claim of conspiracy; and (2) the intra-corporate

conspiracy doctrine bars Plaintiff’s conspiracy claims.!?

Y In a separate section of their motion to dismiss, the City Defendants argue that Plaintiff
has not alleged sufficient allegations to hold Martin, Shines, Hillard, and Needham liable in their
individual capacities. These allegations, however, demonstrate to the contrary. See Patterson,
328 F. Supp. 2d at 888 (declining to dismiss Byrne, Martin, Shines, Hillard, and Needham from
the case where “the allegations in Patterson’s complaint are more than adequate to put this court
and defendants Byrne, Martin, Shines, Hillard, and Needham on notice of the claims against
them™); Orange, 2005 WL 742641, at *13 (upholding claims against Martin, Shines, Hillard and
Needhamy); Howard, 2004 WL 2397281, at *13 (same). Therefore, the Court denies the City
Defendants’ request that it dismiss Martin, Shines, Hillard, and Needham from the case.

" In footnote seven of the City Defendants’ reply brief, they purport to adopt the County
Defendants’ arguments challenging Plaintiff’s malicious prosecution claim. The City
Defendants may not raise a new argument on reply and fail to develop it with legal or factual
support without waiving it. See Berkowitz, 927 F.2d at 1384 (“We repeatedly have made clear
that perfunctory and undeveloped arguments, and arguments that are unsupported by pertinent
authority, are waived.”); see also Luellen, 350 F.3d at 612 n.4 (arguments raised for the first time
on reply are waived). Moreover, as discussed below, the Court upholds Count VTII as to the
County Defendants.

" The City Defendants also assert that “[t]o the extent the allegations in counts I through
V and VII through IX fail fo adequately assert the underlying causes of action, those same
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I. Sufficiency of Plaintiff’s Conspiracy Allegations

The City Defendants argue that the Court should dismiss Plaintiff*s conspiracy claims
because Plaintiff fails toAallege the form and the scope of the purported conspiracies. The Court
disagrees. As Judge Holderman explained in Orange, “traditional notice pleading tules apply”
to conspiracy claims. 2005 WL 742641, at *14 (citing Leatherman v. Tarrant County Narcotics
Intelligence & Coordination Unir, 507 U.S. 163, 168, 113 S. Ct. 1160, 1163, 122 L. Bd. 2d 517
(1993)). Indeed, the Seventh Circuit has explained that “it is enough in pleading a conspiracy
merely to indicate the parties, general purpose, and approximate date, so that the defendant has
notice of what he is charged with.” Walker v. Thompson, 288 F.3d 1005, 1007 (7" Cir. 2002).
Plaintiff’s conspiracy allegations meet this standard. Plaintiff identifies each Defendant that was
part of the purported conspiracy and the approximate time period each Defendant participated in
- the conspiracy. Plaintiff also alleges that the general purpose of the conspiracy was “to falsely
imprison and/or to continue said imprisonment, to maliciously prosecute and/or continue said
prosecution, and to intentionally inflict severe emotional distress on Plaintiff.” (R. 1-1; Compl.
at 1 99.) Additionally, Plaintiff specifies the conduct in which the City Defendants allegedly
engaged in furtherance of the conspiracy, including, among other things, torturing Plaintiff,
coercing a confession, testifying falsely, and suppressing and destroying evidence of the torture.
Accordingly, Plaintiff’s allegations are sufficient to “enable [the City Defendaﬁts] to prepare

[their] defense or for the district court to determine whether the claim was within the ballpark of

allegations cannot support the derivative conspiracy claims.” (R. 43-2; City Defs.” Mot. to
Dismiss at 17.} Because the Court upholds Counts I through IV and Counts VI through TX as to
the City Defendants, Plaintiff can properly base his conspiracy claims on those causes of action
and the allegations underlying those causes of action.
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possibly valid conspiracy claims.” Walker, 288 F.3d at 1008; see also Howard, 2004 WL
2397281, at **12, 15 (upholding state law and § 1983 conspiracy claims); Patterson, 328 F.
Supp. 2d at 903 (same),
2. Intra-corporate Conspiracy Doctrine

The City Defendants also assert that the intra-corporate conspiracy docirine bars
Plaintiff’s § 1983 conspiracy claims. In Dombrowski v. Dowling, 459 F.2d 190 (7 Cir. 1972),
the Seventh Circuit recognized the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine and held that “managers
of a corporation jointly pursuing its lawful business do not become ‘conspirators® when acts
within the scope of their employment are said to be discriminatory or retaliatory.” Travis v.
Gary Cmty. Mental Health Cir., Inc., 921 F.2d 108, 110 {7 Cir. 1990). “In Wright, the Sevenfh
Circuit applied the doctrine to claims brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1985 against governmenial
entities.” Hobley I, 2004 WL 1243929, at *10 (citing Wright v. Hllinois Dept. of Children &
Family Servs., 40 F.3d 1492, 1507-08 (7" Cir. 1994)), The City Defendants ask the Court to
extend the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine to Plaintiff’s § 1983 conspiracy claims. Although
the Seventh Circuit has not reached this issue, several courts in this District have addressed the
applicability of the infra-corporate conspiracy doctrine in the context of § 1983 conspiracy
claims against police officers. There is a split of opinion among the district courts addressing
this issue. The courts in David v. Vz’liagé of Oak Lawn, No. 95-7368, 1996 WL 210072, *%3-4
(N.D. 11 Apr. 29, 1996), and Chavez v. Hlinois State Police, No. 94-5307, 1996 WL 66136, **7-
8 (N.D. IIl. Feb. 13, 1996), for example, have applied the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine,
while various courts have declined to apply the doctrine. See, e.g., Hobley I, 2004 WL 1243929,

at **10-11; Howard, 2004 WL 2397281, at *12; McDorman v. Smith, No, 05-0448, 2005 WL
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1869683, at *6 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 2, 2005); Williams v. Brown, 269 F. Supp. 2d 987, 994 (N.D, IIL.
2003), vacated in part by Williams v, Brown, No, 01-3228, 2003 WL 22454083 (N.D. 1L Oct. 3,
2003); Moreno v. Town of Cicero, No. 01-1726, 2002 WL 31017932, at *3 (N.D.I1l. Sept. 5,
2002); Newsome v. James, No. 96-7680, 2000 WL 528475, **14-16 (N.D. Iil. Apr, 26, 2000);
Jejferson v, City of Harvey, No. 98-5834, 2000 WL 15097, at ** 4-5 (N.D. 1iL. Jan. 5, 2000);
Northen v. City of Chicago, No. 93-7013, 1999 WL 342441, at **3-4 (N.D. Il May 17, 1999);
Cooper v. Harris, No, 98-1623; 1999 WL 261742, at *3 (N.D. I1l. Apr. ‘13, 1999); Salto v.
Mercado, No. 96-7168, 1997 WL 222874, at *1-2 (N, D. Ill. Apr. 24, 1997).

The Court declines to extend the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine to Plaintiff’s § 1983
conspiracy claims. The Court agrees with the reasoning set forth in James, upon which the
courts in the telated Howard and Hobley cases relied. In James, the court explained that

[t]he intracorporate conspiracy doctrine was created to shield corporations and their

employees from conspiracy liability for routine, collaborative business decisions that are

later alleged to be discriminatory. The conduct plaintiff alleges here does not fit that
mold. The decision to frame plaintiff for Cohen’s murder, as plaintiff atleges it, is not the
product of routine police department decision-making.
2000 WL 528475, at *15. 1n this case, Plaintiff alleges that the City Defendants conspired to: (1)
falsely .arrest and imprison Plaintiff; (2) torture and physically abuse Plaintiff; (3} coercively

interrogate Plaintiff; and (4) cause the wrongful charging, prosecution and conviction of

Plaintiff, Plaintiffs conspiracy claims stand.’

" In addition to PlaintifPs § 1983 conspiracy claims, the Complaint may also allege a
conspiracy claim under § 1985, In his response, Plaintift states that he “makes only one § 1985
conspiracy claim - - - for violation of his right to equal protection of law.” (R. 54-1; PL.’s Resp.
to City Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss at 26 n.12.) Plaintiff, however, further staies that “[s]ince this
claim is also made under § 1983 , ., Plaintiff need not also pursue this claim under § 1985.”
(Id.) (citations omitted.) Itis unclear whether Plaintiff, by making this statement, intends to
waive his alleged conspiracy claim under § 1985. To the extent Plaintiff does not intend to
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G. Collateral Estoppel

The City Defendants argue that the doctrine of collateral estoppel bars Plaintiff's claims
because “Plainfiff’s claim of innocence was extensively litigated before and adjudicated by the
Illinois Prisoner Review Board.” (R. 43-2; City Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss at 22.) Plaintiff, in his
response, raises a number of issues of fact regarding, among other things, whether he had a full
and fair opportunity to litigate before the Illinois Prisoner Review Board. The parties’ briefs
make clear that the Court must look to information outside the pleadings to properly rule on this
issue. Therefore, the Court agrees with Judge Holderman’s assessment in Orange that
“[e}valuation of coliaterai estoppel requires the court to make factual determinations that are
properly considered when the court can evaluate evidence outside the plaintiff’s complaint such
as through a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment.” Orange, 2005 WL 742641, at *5; see also
Patterson, 328 F. Supp. 2d at 887 (declining to dismiss plaintiff’s claims under the doctrine of
collateral estoppel because “the court cannot rule on defendants’ collateral estoppel arguuments
without considering facts and evidence outside the pleadings™); Hobley £, 2004 WL 1243929, at
#3-4 (same). Accordingly, at this stage in the litigation, the Court will not dismiss Plaintiffs

claims under the doctrine of collateral estoppel.

waive this claim, the Coutt does not find that the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine bats his
claim. As the Seventh Circuit has made clear, the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine applies
during the pursuit of “lawful business” when the purported conspirators act “within the scope of
their employment.” Travis, 921 F.2d at 110. At this stage, the Court caimot say that the City
Defendants’ conduct was within the scope of their employment and was engaged in during the
pursuit of lawful business. Moreover, the Seventh Circuit has stated that “except in egregious
circumstances, intra-entity discussions that result in discriminatory or retaliatory actions lie
outside the scope of § 1985.” Wright, 40 I*.3d at 1508-09. This case may very well present the
type of “egregious circumstances” that exempt it from the reach of the intra-corporate conspiracy
doctrine.
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H. Section 1983 Monell Policy Claim (Count VI)

Count VI alleges a § 1983 Monell policy claim against the City. The City Defendants
argue that “[blecause plaintiff has failed to assert actionable § 1983 claims in counts I through V,
his Monell claim against the City in Count VI fails as a result.” (R. 43-2; City Defs.” Mot. to
Dismiss at 22.) The Court, however, upholds Counts I though [V as to the City Defendants.
Therefore, the Court denies the City Defendants® motion to dismiss Count VI,

L Respondeat Superior and Indemnification Claims (Counts XTI, XII)

Counts X1 and XII allege liability against the City on theories of respondeat superior and
indemnification pursuant to 745 ILCS § 10/9-102. The City Defendants challenge these claims
on the ground that the City cannot be liable for violations of Illinois state law where its
employees are not liable. The Court, however, does not dismiss Counts VII through X as alleged
against the City’s employees. Accordingly, ﬂllﬁ', Court denies the City Defendants’ motion to
dismiss Counts XI and XTI, |
II.  County Defendants

Plaintiff brings a number of causes of action against the County Defendants.

Specifically, Plaintiff asserts seven claims against Devine in his individual capacity: (1) § 1983
claim for deprivation of the right to a fair trial and wrongful conviction (Count I); (2) § 1983
claim for false arrest and false imprisonment (Count 11); (3) § 1983 due process claim for
deprivation of access fo courts (Count V); (4) state law false arrest and imprisonment claim
(Count VII); (5) state law malicious prosecution claim (Count VIII); (6) state law intentional
infliction of emotional distress claim (Count IX); and (7) state law conspiracy claim (Count X).

Additionally, Plaintiff asserts a claim for indemnification pursuant to 745 ILCS 10/9-102 (Count
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X1I) against the County and the Cook County State’s Aitorney’s Office. The County Defendants

seek to dismiss each of these claims.

A. Eleventh Amendment

The County Defendants argue, and Plaintiff does not contest, that the Eleventh
Amendment bars Plaintiff’s claims against the Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office. “The
Eleventh Amendment prohibits federal courts from deciding suits brought by private lftigants
against states or their agencies.” Garcia v. City of Chicago, 24 F.3d 966, 969 (7 Cir. 1994).
Because state’s attorney’s offices are state agencies, the Eleventh Amendment bars Plaintiff’s
claims against the Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office. See Hernandez v. Joliet Police Dep 1,
197 F.3d 256, 264-65 (7™ Cir. 1999) (citing Garcia, 24 F.3d at 969); Orange, 2005 WL 742641,
at ¥16-17; Patterson, 328 F. Supp. 2d at 899; Webb v. City of Joliet, No. 03-4436, 2004 WL
1179413, at *5 (N.D. 1ll. May 26, 2004). Accordingly, the Court dismisses Plaintiff’s ¢laims
against the Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office with prejudice, and addresses the County
Defendants’ remaining arguments only as they relate to the County and Devine.

B. Illinois Court of Claims

The County Defendants also argue that the Court should dismiss Plaintiffs state law fort
claims against Devine because the Illinois Court of Claims has exclusive jurisdiction over those
claims. “In the Court of Claims Act, the General Assembly provided that the Court of Claims
has the ‘exclusive jurisdiction to hear and determine * * * [a]ll claims against the State for
damages in cases sounding in tort, if a like cause of action would lie against a private person or

cotporation in a civil suit.”” Price v. lilinois, 354 1Il. App. 3d 90, 92, 820 N.E.2d 104, 106, 289
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1. Dec. 596, 598 (1* Dist. 2004) (citing 705 ILCS 505/8(d) (West 1994)). “Whether an action is
in fact one against the State, and hence one that must be brought in the Couit of Claims, depends
not on the formal identification of the parties but rather on the issues involved and the relief
sought” Healyv. Vaupel, 133 111.2d 295, 308, 549 N.E.2d 1240, 1247, 140 TIl, Dec. 368, 375
(Ill. 1990). Regarding the issues involved, “an action is against the state when there are: ““(1) no
allegations that an agent or employee of the State acted beyond the scope of his authority
through wrongfiil acts; (2) the duty alleged to have been breached was not owed to the public
generally independent of the fact of State employment; and (3) where the complained-of actions
involve matters ordinarily within that employee’s normal and official functions of the State # *
®.7 Jinkins v. Lee, 209 111.2d 320, 330, 807 N.E.2d 411, 418, 282 111. Dec. 787, 794 (111. 2004)
(citing Healy, 133 111.2d at 309, 549 N.E.2d at 1247, 140 111, Dec. at 375 (quotations omitted)),
“Regarding the relief sought, a court must also consider whether the relief sought is such that ‘a
judgment for the plaintiff could operate to control the actions of the State or subject it to
liability.”” Id. (citing Currie v. Lao, 148 111.2d 151, 159, 592 N.E.2d 977, 980, 170 Ifl. Dec. 297,
300 (11. 1992)).

Plaintiff alleges that from 1988 to 1996, Devine served as counsel to the City of Chicago
and represented Burge. (R. 1-1; Compl. at 1§ 51, 53.) As counsel for Burge, Plaintiff alleges
that Devine received evidence that Burge tortured suspects, (Jd. at §53.) According to Plaintiff,
after receiving this evidence, Devine became the State’s Attorney of Cook County and: (1) made
false public statements discrediting evidence of torture; (2) refused to investigate allegations
regarding Area 2 and Area 3 detectives® use of torture and abuse; (3) suppressed evidence of

torture, including evidence of Plaintiff’s torture; and (4) used his position to maintain the
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wrongful conviction and imprisonment of Plaintiff and other victims of torture, (Id. at §54.)
These allegations are sufficient to establish that Devine acted in excess of his authority and in
violation of applicable laws such that the Illinois Court of Claims does not have exclusive
jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state law torf claims." See Heafy, 133 111.2d at 308, 549 N.E.2d at
1247, 140 IlL. Dec. at 375 (citing Senn Park Nursing Ctr. v. Miller, 104 111.2d 169, 188, 83 1L
Dec. 609, 618, 470 N.E.2d 1029, 1039 (11l. 1984)) ( “{sJovereign immunity affords no protection
... when it is alleged that the State’s agent acted in violation of statutory or constitutional law or
in excess of his authority, and in those instances an action may be brought in circuit court”).
Moreover, the Court agrees with the reasoning set forth in Patferson and Orange, two cases
pending in the Northern District of Illinois that are based on practically identical allegations to
this case, where Judge Gottschall and Judge Holderman, respectively, held that the Tllinois Court
of Claims did not have exclusive jurisdiction over comparable claims against Devine. Patterson,
328 F. Supp. 2d at 887 (holding that plaintiff's state law charges against Devine did “not belong
in the Court of Claims” because plaintiff “accuses [Devine] of acting intentionally and
maliciously in violation of Illinois state faw™); Orange, 2005 WL 742641, at *18 (holding that

“the Illinois Court of Claims exclusive jurisdiction does not apply” because plainiiff’s

 The County Defendants, in their reply, argue that Plaintiff’s allegation that “Devine
committed the acts alleged above under color of law and in the scope of their [sic] employment
as an employee of Cook County and its State’s Attorneys’ Office,” (R. 1-1; Compl. at § 109),
precludes Plaintiff fiom asserting that Devine acted in excess of his authority. The Court
disagrees. Whether Devine acied within the scope of his authority as State’s Attorney of Cook
County is a legal conclusion that the Court need not accept as true on a motion to dismiss. See
Hickey, 287 F.3d at 658. Accordingly, Plaintiff’s allegation that Devine acted within the scope
of his employment does not require the Court to find that sovereign immunity protects Devine.
See Bartholet v. Reishauer A.G., 953 F.2d 1073, 1078 (7* Cir. 1992) (a “complaint need not
identify a legal theory, and specifying an incorrect theory is not fatal™),
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allegations against Devine “relate to actions clearly outside [his] authority” and Devine
“participated in actions that deprived [plaintiff] of various constitutional rights™). For these
reasons, the llinois Court of Claims does not have exclusive jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state
law tort ¢laims against Devine,

C. Devine’s Personal Liahility

Plaintiff alleges several causes of action against Devine in his individual capacity. The
County Defendants assert that Plaintiff cannot sue Devine in his individual capacity because he
does not allege that Devine “was personally involved in the alleged depravation of his
constitutional rights.” (R. 45-1; County Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss at 4.) They rely on Wolf-Lillie v.
Soaéuist, 699 F.2d 864 (7% Cir. 1983), for the proposition that “[a]n individual cannot be held
liable in a § 1983 action unless he caused or participated in an alleged constitutional
deprivation.” 699 F.2d at 869 (emphasis in original). According to the County Defendants,
Plaintiff cannof make the requisite showing of participation in the alleged constitutional
deprivations because “Mr. Devine was not in office at the time plaintiff was indicted, at the time
plaintiff was tried, af the time he was convicted, or at the time the Ilinois Supreme Court
affirmed plaintiff’s conviction.”” (R. 45-1; County Defs.” Mot, to Dismiss at 5.)

The courts in Patterson and Orange correctly rejected this precise argument. In

Patterson, the court found unpersuasive “Devine’s argument that he cannot be held individually

1> The County Defendants also argue on reply that “plaintiff does not allege that Devine
knew any specific exculpatory information regarding Cannon,” (R. 76-2; County Defs.” Reply at
3.) Contrary to the County Defendants’ assertion, Plaintiff specifically alleges that Devine was
“informed of a wealth of compelling evidence that [his] clients, including Burge, Byrne and
Dignan, were centrally involved in a pattern and practice of torturing suspects, including
Plaintiff”” (R, 1-1; Compl. at § 53) (emphasis added).
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liabie for depriving Patterson of his right to a fair trial because ‘he was not in office when
Patterson was indicted, when his trial occurred, or when the Ilinois Supreme Court affirmed his
conviction.”” 328 ¥. Supp. 2d at 893, The court in Paiterson explained that allegations of
Devine’s suppression of exculpatory evidence and defamatory statements, which purportedly
resulted in the denial of plaintiffs right to a fair post-conviction proceeding, were sufficient to
support claims against Devine for individual liability under § 1983. Id. at 893-94. Similarly, in
Orange, the court held that plaintiff “successfully state[s] claims against Devine in his personal
capacity upon which relief may be granted” because plaintiff “alleged that Devin-e has made
public statements defaming him , . . [and] took actions while he was in private practice during
his representation of Burge and then later as the State’s Attorney of Cook County to deny
Orange his constitutional rights.” 2005 WL 742641, at ¥19. In this case, as in Patferson and
Orange, Plaintiff alleges that Devine suppressed evidence of torfure — including evidence of
Plaintiff’s torture — made false public statements discrediting evidence of torture, refused to
investigate allegations of tortur¢ and abuse, and used his position to maintain the wrongful
conviction and imprisonment of Plaintiff and other victims of torture. (R. 1-1; Compl, at §54.)

These allegations are sufficient to support claims against Devine in his individual capacity.

D. Prosecutorial Immunity

The County Defendants assert that “Mr, Devine is absolutely immune from suit based
upon any prosecutorial function that he performs, including the determination of the position of
the State’s Attorney’s office in response to post-conviction petitions or appeals.” (R. 45-1;

County Defs.” Mot to Dismiss at 1.} The County Defendants’ failure to provide the Court with
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any developed legal argument in support of their one-sentence conclusion waives their
prosecutorial immunity argument. See Berkowilz, 927 F.2d at 1384 (“We repeatedly have made
clear that perfunctory and undeveloped arguments, and arguments that are unsupported by
pertinent authority, are waived.”); see also Estate of Moreland, 395 F.3d at 759 (“Perfunctory or
undeveloped arguments are waived.”).

K. False Arrest and Imprisonment Claims (Counts I, V1)

Counts Il and VII allege that Devine, along with the City Defendants, falsely arrested and
falsely imprisoned Plaintiff in violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments and state law.
In their opening brief, the County Defendants only address Plaintiffs § 1983 claim against
Devine for false arrest. They argue that Devine did not participate in Plaintiff*s arrest, and as
such, Plaintiff cannot state a claim against Devine for false arrest, Tn his response, “Plaintiff
concedes that Defendant Devine is not responsible for Plaintiff’s false arrest.” (R. 62-1; PL’s
Resp. to County Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss at 8 n.4.) Accordingly, the Court disntisses Plaintiff’s
false arrest causes of action as to Devine.

The County Defendants do not develop any argument challenging Plaintifi’s false
imprisonment claim against Devine until their reply. Arguments raised for the first time in a
reply, however, are waived. Luelflen, 350 F.3d at 612 n.4. Therefore, the Court denies the
County Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiff’s false imprisonment claims as to Devine.

¥,  Deprivation of Access to the Courts (Count V)

Count V alleges that Devine, along with a number of City Defendants, deprived Plaintiff

of his right of access to the courts by his “obstruction of justice and suppression of evidence

38

SA 38 of 76



Case: 12-1529 Document: 18-2 Filed: 08/08/2012 Pages: 79
Case: 1.05-cv-02192 Docurnent #: 88 Filed: 02/02/06 Page 39 of 45 PagelD #:588

favorable to and exonerating of the Plaintiff.”"® (R, 1-1; Compl. at 1 81.) The Supreme Court
recognizes two categories of denial of access to courts claims: (1) “systemic official action [that]
frustrates a plaintiff or plaintiff class in preparing and filing s-uits at the present time”; and (2)
“specific cases that cannot now be iried {or tried with all material evidence), no matter what
official action may be in the future.” Christopher v. Harbury, 536 U.S. 403, 413-14, 122 8. Ct.
2179, 2185-86, 153 L. Ed. 2d 413 (2002), This case fits into the second category. To allege a
claim for the denial of access, Plaintiff must plead allegations describing: (1) “the undetlying
cause of action, whether anticipated or lost;” (2) “the official acts frustrating the litigation;” and
(3) in cases that “look[] backward,” “a remedy that may be awarded as recompense but not
otherwise available in some suit that may yet be brought.” Id. at 415, 122 S. Ct. at 2187.

The County Defendants argue that Count V fails as a matter of law becausé “plaintiff is
able to bring his underlying claims™ and “does not, and cannot, identify any claim which has
been lost, or for which he cannot receive recovery in the present lawsuit.” (R. 45-1; County
Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss at 8-9.) The Court agrees. In Christopher, the Supreme Cowt explained
that

the underlying cause of action, whether anticipated or lost, is an.element that must be

described in the complaint, just as much as allegations must describe the official acts

frustrating the litigation. It follows, too, that when the access claim (like this one) looks
backward, the complaint must identify a remedy that may be awarded as recompense but
not otherwise available in some suit that may yet be brought. There is, after all, no point

in spending time and money to establish the facts constituting denial of access when a

plaintiff would end up just as well off after litigating a simpler case without the denial-of-
access element.

' The Court does not address the effect of the 1988 Stipulation on Plaintiff’s denial of
access claim against the County Defendants because the 1988 Stipulation does not release any
claims against the County Defendants, and, as Plaintiff concedes, Devine was not involved with
obtaining the 1988 Stipulation.
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536 U.S, at 415, 122 8. Ct. at 2187, Accordingly, “the complaint should state the underlying
claim in accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a), just as if it were being
independently pursued, and a like plain statement should describe any remedy available under
the access claim presently unique to it.”” Id. at 417, 122 S, Ct. at 2188 (footnote omitted),
Plaintiff alleges that he has lost his claims of torture (Count IIl) and coercive interrogation
(Count IV). (R. 1-1; Compi. at § 81.) Plaintiff, however, does not allege these causes of action
against the County Defendants. Indeed, Plaintiff does not allege that the County Defendants’
actions caused the loss of any underlying claim. See Paiterson, 328 F. Supp. 2d at 898 (“The
allegations contained in Patterson’s right of access claim are deficient, for they do not plead a
short and plain statement of the underlying claims and do not establish that Patterson has been
denied adequate legal redress for any legitimate claim.”). Therefore, the Court grants the County
Defendants’ motion to dismiss Count V.

G. Conspiracy Claim Against Devine (Count X)

The County Defendants request that the Court dismiss Plaintiff’s conspiracy claim for
two reasons. First, the County Defendants argue that the Court lacks jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s
state law conspiracy claim because the Iilinois Court of Claims has exclusive jurisdiction over
Plaintiff’s state [aw claims. As discussed above, however, the [llinois Court of Claims does not
have exclusive jurisdiction over Plainti{f’s state law tort claims against Devine. Second, the
County Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s conspiracy claim fails because Plaintiff does not state
any viable underlying claims against Devine, Because the Court upholds Counts I, II, VII, VIII,
and IX as to Devine, this argument also fails,

H. Malicious Prosecution (Count VIII)
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Count VIII alleges a state law claim for malicious prosecution against Devine. As stated
above, under Illinois law, “to establish a malicious prosecution action, the plaintiff must allege
facts showing: ‘(1) the commencement or continuance of an original criminal or civil judicial
proceeding by the defendant; (2) the termination of the proceeding in favor of the plaintiff; (3)
the absence of probable cause for such proceeding; (4) the presence of malice; and (5) damages
resulting to the plaintiff.”” Swick, 169 TIL.2d at 512, 662 N.E.2d at 1242, 215 TIL. Dec. at 102
(quoting Jairner, 82 111.2d at 45, 44 Iil. Dec. at 263, 411 N.E.2d at 232 (quotation omitted)). “The
absence of any one of these elements bars a plaintiff from pursuing the claim.” Swick, 169 111.2d
at 512, 662 N.E.2d at 1242, 215 1ll. Dec. at 102 (citation omitted).

The County Defendants argue that Plaintiff fails to meet the second element —
termination of the underlying proceeding in favor of the plaintiff. The Iilinois Supreme Court
has explained that “[i|n regard to the second element, a malicious prosecution action cannot be
predicated on underlying criminal proceedings which were terminated in a manner not indicative
of the innocence of the accused.” Id, At the pleading stage of the litigation, “it is sufficient for
the court to find that it is possible for plaintiff to prove facts that establish his allegation that the
‘charges were resolved in plaintiff’s favor.”” Bvans v. City of Chicago, No. 00-7222, 2001 WL
1028401, at #12 (N.D. HL. Sept. 6, 2001) (internal quotations omitted). Here, Plaintiff
specifically alleges that Devine, among others, “initiated a malicious prosecution without
probable cause against Plaintiff” that “was ultimately terminated in Plaintiff’s favor.” (R. 1-1;
Compl, at 9 93.) Plaintiff firther alleges that

In 1997, the Illinois Appellate Court ordered that Plaintiff receive a new motion to

suppress hearing at which he be permitted to present all the newly discovered evidence of

torture and abuse which had been uncovered since his 1984 motion to suppress hearing.
At this remand hearing, which commenced in 1999, the Plaintiff presented a wealth of
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newly discovered evidence of torture and abuse. The Staie’s Attorney’s Office, rather

than to again elicit the knowingly false and perjured testimony of the Defendant Officers,

dismissed Plaintiff’s case on April 14, 2004.

(Id. at 4§ 59-60.) These allegations are sutficient.

The County Defendants’ arguments, based on documents and pleadings from Plaintiff>s
undetlying criminal case, do not require a different result. In essence, they are asking th;e Court
to make a finding of fact that the underlying criminal case was not terminated in Plaintiff’s favor
becai;lse it resulted from an agreement or a compromise. In deciding a motion to dismiss,
however, “the court cannot weigh the facts-the court must assume that plaintift®s allegations are
true.” Evans, 2001 WL 1028401, at *12. Accordingly, Plaintiff’s malicious prosecution claim
against Devine survives."”

L Section 9-102 Indemnity Claim (Count XIT}

Count X11 is an indemnification claim that seeks judgment against the County and the
State’s Attorney’s Office for any amount awarded to Plaintiff for Devine’s alleged violations
pursuant to the Illinois Tort Immunity Act, 745 IL.CS 10/9-102. Because the Court holds that the
Eleventh Amendment bars Plaintiff’s claims against the Cook County State’s Aftorney’s Office,
the Court addresses the validity of Count XiI only as to the County. See Orange, 2005 WL
742641, at ¥21.

The County Defendants argue that the Court cannot hold the County liable for

indemnification because Devine is not an employee of the County. The Court agrees that Devine

is an officer of the State, not an employee of the County. See Biggerstaff'v. Moran, 284 1ll. App.

7 The Court rules on this issue without relying on the documents the County Defendants
attach to their brief and without addressing the propriety of attaching those docwments to the
brief.
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3d 196, 199-200, 671 N.E.2d 781, 784, 219 Ill. Dec. 614, 617 (1* Dist. 1996) (ciiing Ingemunson
v. Hedges, 133 111.2d 364, 367-70, 140 111, Dec. 397, 398-400, 549 N.E.2d 1269, 1270-72 (111
1990)). However, the fact that Devine is not an employee of the County is not dispositive,
Indeed, as the County Defendants concede, “under the Seventh Circuit’s decision in Robinson v,
Sappington, 351 £.3d 317 (7" Cir. 2003), the County has a duty to indemnify claims brought
against State officials where the County funds the office of that state official” and “the County
funds the [State’s Attorney’s Office].” (R, 45-1; County Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss at 14.)
Robinson relied on the Iilinois Supreme Court’s decision in Carver v. Sheriff of La Salle County,
203 111.2d 497, 787 N.E.2d 127, 272 111, Dec. 312 (1l]. 2003), which, in answering a question the
Seventh Circuit certified, held that “[blecause the office of the sheriff is funded by the county,
the county is therefore required to pay a judgment entefed against a sheriff’s office in an official
capacity.” Carver, 203 111.2d at 522, 787 N.E.2d at 141, 272 IIl. Dec. at 326. Furthermore, in
Wallace v. Masterson, 345 F. Supp. 2d 917 (N.D. Iil. 2004), the court found that “the Carver
cases mandate that the County must pay for a tort judgement entered against Masterson [a Cook
County Sheriff's Deputy Officer sued in his personal capacity] for which the Sheriff is directed
to pay by § 9-102 or is found vicariously liable under the doctrine of respondeat superior.” 345
F. Supp. 2d at 925, Therefore, finding that Devine was not an employee of the County does ﬁot
automatically release the County from liability for indemnification.

The County Defendants further argue that Plaintiff’s indemnification claim against the
County must fail because all of Plaintiff’s underlying state and federal claims against the County
Defendants fail as a maiter of law. The Court, however, does not dismiss all of Plainiiff’s ¢laims

against the County Defendants, The County Defendants’ arguments, therefore, do not require
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the Court to dismiss Count XII as to the County.®

J. Collateral Estoppel

For the ﬁrét time in their reply, the County Defendants raise the issue of collateral
estoppel. The County Defendants do not develop this argument. Instead, they purport to adopt
the City Defendants’ arguments regarding collateral estoppel. As an initial matter, “perfunctory
and undeveloped arguments, and arguments that are unsupported by pertinent authority, are
waived.” Berkowitz, 927 F.2d at 1384; see also Estate of Moreland, 395 F.3d at 759,
Furthermore, arguments raised for the first time in a reply are waived. Luellen, 350 F.3d at 612

n.4. Accordingly, the County Defendants® collateral estoppel argument is waived.”

13 The Court notes that it does not hold as a matter of law that the County is liable for
indemnification. Instead, the Court holds only that based on the arguments before it, dismissing
this cause of action as to the County at this stage is inappropriate.

¥ The Court notes that even if the County Defendants had properly raised the issue of
collateral estoppel, for the reasons set forth above, the Court declines to address the purported
applicability of the doctrine of collateral estoppel at this time,
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CONCLUSION
For these reasons, the Court grants in part and denies in part the City Defendants® motion

to dismiss, and the Court grants in part and denies in part the County Defendants’ motion to

dismiss.
Dated: February 2, 2006 ENTERED:
AMY 1. sﬂ

United States District Court Judge
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF iLLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION
DARRELL CANNON, }
Plaintiff, ;
V. ; No. 05 C2192
FORMER CHICAGO POLICELT. ;
JON BURGE, et ol., )
Defendants. ;

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

AMY J. ST. EVE, District Court Judge:

In his Complaint, Plaintiff Darrell Cannon alleged that certain personnel with the City of
Chicago, the Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office, Cook County, and the City itself violated
his civil rights by torturing him during interrogations held at the Chicago Police Department’s
Area 2 Detective Division under the direction of Former Chicago Police Lieutenant Jon Burge.
Before the Court is Cannon’s Motion for Leave to File an Amended Complaint. For the
following reasons, the Court, in its discretion, grants in part and denies in part Cannon’s motion,

BACKGROUND
L Original Complaint

On April 13, 2005, Cannon filed his original Complaint against Defendants Jon Burge,
John Byrne, Peter Dignan, Michael Bosco, Ray Binkowski, Ray Madigan, Daniel McWeeny,
Leroy Martin, Terry Hillard, Thomas Needham, Gayle Shines, the Estate of Charles Grunhard,
the City of Chicago (collectively, the “City Defendants™), as well as Cock County State’s
Attorney Richard Devine, the Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office, and Cook County

(collectively, the “County Defendants™). In his Complaint, Cannon alleged six ¢ivil rights
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violations pursuant to 42 U.5.C. § 1983, including a fair trial/due process claim (Count 1), a false
arrest and imprisonment claim (Count 11), a physical abuse/excessive force claim (Count I1T), a
coercive interrogation claim (Count IV), a deprivation of access to courts claim (Count V), and a
Monell claim (Count VI). Plaintiff also alleged six state law violations, including false arrest
and imprisonment (Count VII), malicious prosecution (Count VII1), intentional infliction of
emotional distress (Count IX), conspiracy (Count X), respondeat superior.(Count X1), and
indemmification pursuant to 745 ILCS 10/9-102 (Count XII),
1L Motion to Dismiss

On February 2, 2006, the Court granted in part and denied in part the City and County
Defendants” motions to dismiss Catmon’s original Complaint. Specifically, the Court concluded
that Cannon’s federal due process, false arrest and false imprisonment, physical excessive force,
and coercive interrogations claims — including the attendant conspiracy claim — were timely
pursuant to Heck v, Humphrey, 512 U.S, 477, 114 8. Ct. 2364, 129 L. Ed. 2d 383 (1994), Asto
Cannon’s state law claims, the Court concluded that the City Defendants had waived their
arguiments regarding Cannon’s false arrest/false imprisonment common law claim and that
Cannon’s intentional infliction of emotional distress and state conspiracy claims were not time-
barred. Viewing the facts in a light most favorable to Cannon, the Court concluded that Cannon
properly alleged his federal due process claim, as well as his state law malicious prosecution and
conspiracy claims. The Court also denied the City 5efendants’ motion with respect to Cannon’s
respondeat superior and indemmification claims.

'The Court, however, dismissed Cannon’s deprivation of access to courts claim (Count V)

against both the City and County Defendants. The Court also dismissed Cannon’s Section 1983
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and common law false arrest claims against State’s Attorney Devine, but not the false
imprisonment claims. Moreover, the Court dismissed all ¢laims against the Cock County State’s
Attorney’s Office with prejudice. The Court, however, concluded that the remaining claims
against State’s Attorney Devine in his individual capacity were proper and that the County
Defendants had waived their prosecutorial immunity defense. As to the remainder of the parties’
arguments concerning the motions to dismiss, the Court presumes familiarity with its February 2,
2006, Memorandum, Opinion, and Order.!

LEGAL STANDARD

“Although Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a) instructs that ieave to amend shall be
freely given ‘when justice so requires,” a district court may deny a plaintiff leave fo amend if
‘there is undue delay, bad faith[,] or dilatory motive.” Sound of Music Co. v. Minnesota Mining .
& Mfg. Co., 477 F.3d 910, 922 (7th Cir. 2007) (citations omitted). The Court may also deny a
plaintiff’s motion for leave to amend if “undue prejudice to the opposiﬁg party by virtue of
allowance of the amendment, [or] futility of amendment” would occur, Jd. at 922-23 (citations
omitted). In other words, “leave to amend is ot automatically granted, and may be properly
denied at the district court’s discretion for reasons including undue delay, the movant’s bad faith,
and undue prejudice to the opposing party.” Crest Hill Land Dev., LLC v. City of Joliet, 396
F.3d 801, 804 (7th Cir. 2005); see also Guise v. BWM Mortgage, LLC, 377 F.3d 795, 801 (7th

Cir. 2004) (“district court’s decision to grant or deny a motion for leave to file an amended

! In their response brief, the County Defendants rehash arguments that the Court already
rejected in its February 2, 2006, Memorandum, Opinion, and Order granting in part and denying
in part Defendants” motions to dismiss, As such, the Court need not address these arguments in
the context of Cannon’s Motion for Leave to File an Amended Complaint.

3.
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pleading is ‘a matter purely within the sound discretion of the district coﬁrt.”’) (citation omittedj.
ANALYSIS

In his Motion for Leave to File an Amended Complaint, Cannon seeks to amend his
original Complaint relying on the July 19, 2006, Special Prosecurtor Investigation Report
concerning torture at Chicago Police Department Area 2 under the direction of Former Chicago
Police Lieutenant Burge. Based on this report, Cannon seeks to add allegations concerning
matters outside of his own underlying criminal proceedings, including the prosecution of
Andrew Wilson for murdering two police officers in February 1982, as part of a civil conspiracy
claim under the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO), 18 U.S.C.
§ 1961 et seq. Cannon also seeks to add Chicago Mayor Richard Daley and former Chicago
Mayor Jane Byrne as Defendants to various claims in his original Complaint and the newly
alleged RICO claim. In addition, Cannon secks to incorporate “newly discovery evidence™ as
part of his Monell claim. Finally, Cannon wants to add Defendant State’s Attorney Devine, as
well as other named Defendants, to his previously alleged claims and his newly alleged RICO
claim.
I Civil RICO Conspiracy Claim

In Count V of his proposed Amended Complaint, Cannon seeks to add a new claim under
the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO), 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et
seq. Defendants, however, argue that Cannon does not have standing to bring his RICO claim,
and thus any such amendment would be futile. See Sound of Music, 477 F.3d at 922-23. To
establish standing to sue, a plaintiff in a civil RICO action must show injury to “his business or

property by reason of a violation of section 1962,” See 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c); Evans v. City of
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Chicago, 434 F.3d 916, 924-25 (7th Cir. 2006). In Evans, the Seventh Circuit explained that the
phrase “injured in business or property” under the RICO statute is a standing requirement rather
than an element of a RICO cause of action. See id. at 924, Therefore, the issue of whether a
RICO plaintiff has incurred an injury to his business or property within the meaning of Section
1964(c) is a jurisdictional question that the Court may address at any stage of litigation. Id
(citing National Organization for Women, Inc. v. Scheidler, 510 U.8. 249, 255, 114 8.Ct. 798,
127 L.Ed.2d 99 (1994)),

Relying on a Ninth Circuit case, Cannon contends that he has standing to bring a civil
RICO claim because while he was unjustly incarcerated, his “business or property” was injured
due to his lost employment opporfunities. See Digz v. Gates, 420 F.3d 897 (9th Cir. 2005).
Cannon, however, fails to address the Seventh Circuit’s decision in Evans which is directly on-
point and holds the opposite. See id. at 924-27. In Evans, the plaintiff argued that he had
standing because there was injury to his business or property “due to the fact that he was
allegedly maliciously prosecuted and falsely imprisoned,” and thus he “lost the ability to pursue
gainful employment and also lost potential income from that employinent.” Id at 926, In
rejecting this argument, the Seventh Circuit explained:

The loss of income as a result of being unable to pursuc employment

oppertunities while allegedly falsely imprisoned — similar to monetary losses

flowing from the loss of consortium, loss of security and peace, wrongful death

and similar claims sounding in tort — are quintessentially pecuniary Josses

derivative of personal injuries arising under tort law. Under Ilinois law, which in

this instance defines the scope of tort law, both malicious prosecution and false

imprisonment constitute traditional tort claims which result in a personal injury.

These torts often result in personal injuries, such as those enumerated above,

including the inability to pursue or obtain gainful employment. Evans’® claim of

loss of employment income is nothing more than an indirect, or secondary effect,

of the personal injuries that he allegedly suffered, the inability to seck or obtain
employment, and therefore such a claim does not constitute a cognizable injury to
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“business or ﬁroperty” within the meaning of § 1964(c).

Id. at 926-27 (internal citations omitted). The Seventh Circuit thus concluded that the plaintiff in
Evans “failed to allege anything more than pecuniary losses antecedent to a personal injury,” Id.
at 927. The Evans court also concluded that it was not Congress’ intent that the RICO laws
should “compensate plaintiffs for pecuniary losses, such as loss of income, stemming from what
is essentially a personal injury like the inability to work or seek employment.” Id. In sum, the
Evans court held:

that personal injuries, and the pecuniary losses flowing from those injuries, are

insufficient to establish standing under the civil RICO, § 1964(c). We also hold that

foregone ¢arnings stemming from the lost opporfunity to seek or gain employment are, as

a matter of law, insufficient to satisfy § 1964(c)’s injury to “business or property”

requirement where they constitute nothing more than pecuniary losses flowing from what

is, at base, a personal injury.
1d. at 930-31 {citing Doe v. Roe, 958 F.2d 763, 770 (7th Cir. 1992)). Therefore, under
controlliﬂg Seventh Circuit precedent, Cannon does not have standing to bring a civil RICO
claim based on any lost employment opportunities while he was incarcerated.

Finally, the Seventh Circuit specifically rejected the holding in the Ninth Circuit’s Diaz
decision explaining that the “Diaz majority, however, blurs the distinction between whether an
alleged injury satisfies the statutory definition of ‘business or property” and whether a ‘business
or property’ injury was proximately caused by a predicate RICO act.” Id. at 931 0.26. The
Seventh Circuit also concluded that the Diaz court’s “analysis is equal parts mischaracterization
of the RICO statute and red herring.” Id. Accordingly, Cannon’s reliance on Diaz does not save
the day. Therefore, Cannon’s civil RICO claim is futile because he does not have standing to

bring this claim. See Bensman v. United States Forest Sery., 408 F.3d 945, 949 (7th Cir, 2005)

(standing is a “threshold jurisdictional question” fundamental to a court’s subject matter
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jurisdiction)., The Court thus denies Cannon’s Motion for Leave to File an Amended Complaint
to add a civil RICO claim.
1L Non-RICO Claims Against Mayors Byrne & Daley

Next, Cannon seeks to add Mayors Byrne and Daley as Defendants to certain federal and
state law claims, The City Defendants, however, argue that amending the Complaint to add
Mayors Byrne and Daley would be futile because any such claims are time-barred. The Court
agrees. See Rodriguez v. United States, 286 F.3d 972, 980 (7th Cir. 2002) (“A district court may
propetly deny a motion to amend as futile if the proposed amendment would be barred by the
statute of limitations.”); see alse Sound of Music, 477 F.3d at 923 (amendment futile if new
claim could not survive summary judgment); Vargas-Harrison v. Racine Unified Sch. Dist., 272
F.3d 964, 975 (7th Cir. 2001) (“new claim is futile if it would not withstand a motion to
dismiss.”).

A, Relation-Back

Cannon does not dispute that the claims against Mayors Byrne and Daley are time-
barred, but instead — citing to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(c)(2) — Cannon argues that
these allegations relate back to the date of his original Complaint.? Cannon, however, ignores
Rule 15(c)(3), which governs the addition of new paities to a lawsuit in tandem with Rule
15(e}(2). See Hall v. Norfolk Southern Ry. Co., 469 F.3d 590, 595-96 (7th Cir. 2006). More

specifically, along with Rule 15(c)(2)’s requirement that Cannon’s claims against Mayors Byrne

* Cannon does not address the relation-back doctrine or discovery rule, discussed infia,
as they apply to his claims against Former Mayor Byrne. Thus, Cannon has waived these
arguments. See Steen v. Myers, 486 F.3d 1017, 1020 (7th Cir. 2007) (absence of any discussion
in briefs amounts to abandonment of claims),
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& Daley arise out of the same conduct and occurrences as in his original Complaint, Cannon
must establish two additional requirements under Rule 15(c)(3) to add Mayors Byrne and Daley
as Defendants. See id These requirements include that during the Rule 4(m) period for service
of the summons and complaint, “the party to be brought in by amendment (A) has received such
notice of the institution of the action that the party will not be prejudiced in maintaining a
defense on the merits, and (B) knew or should have known that, but for a mistake concerning the
identity of the proper party, the action would have been brought against the party.” See

Fed R.Civ.P. 15(c)(3); see also Hall, 469 F.3d at 596 (“It is the plaintiff’s responsibility to
determine the proper party to sue and to do so before the statute of limitations expires.”).

In short, Cannon does not mention Rule 15(c)(3) nor does he make any argumenis
concerning Rule 15(c)(3)’s requirements, and the Court will not make his arguments for him.
See Doherty v. City of Chicago, 75 F.3d 318, 324. (7th Cir. 1996) (“Given our adversary system
of litigation, it is not the role of this court to research and construct the legal arguments open to
parties, especially when they are represented by counsel.”) (citation omitted). Because Cannon
fails to mention — let alone argue — that he has established Rule 15(c)(3)’s requirements, his
relation-back argument fails. See Mema v. Gonzales, 474 ¥.3d 412, 421 (7th Cir. 2007)

- (undeveloped arguments waived).

B. Discovery Rule

Cannon nevertheless maintains that his allegations against Mayor Daley are timely based
on the discovery rule. Indeed, [llinois courts recognize the discovery rule — the effect of which
“is to postpone the commencement of the relevant statute of limitations until the injured plaintiff

knows or reasonably should know that he has been injured and that his injury was wrongfully
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caused.” Hollander v. Brown, 457 F.3d 688, 692 (7th Cir, 2006) (quoting Gella v. General
Motors Corp.,, 167 111.2d 353, 212 Ill.Dec. 549, 657 N.E.2d 894, 898 (1995)). In other words,
“the discovery rule starts the statute of limitations from the date when the plaintiff discovers, or
reasonably could discover, both her injury and the causal connection between her injury and the
tortious conduct.” Id. at 692-93 (citation omitted), Whether a plaintiff has brought a claim
within the time allowed by the Iltinois discovery rule is generally a question of fact, but the
Court may determine this issue as a matter of law if the answer is clear from the pleadings. Clay
v. Kuhi, 189 111.2d 603, 609, 244 Hl.Dec. 918, 727 N.E.2d 217 (2000).

Here, Cannon argues that he did not know that he had any claims against Mayor Daley
until after the release of the Special Prosecutor’s Report in August 2006. Cannon’s pleadings
speal otherwise. In his original Complaint, Cannon makes allegations concerning the
investigations into Chicago Police Department Area 2 in relation to Mayor Daley and further
alleges that Mayor Daley was the State’s Attorney of Cook County from 1981 through 1988, (R.
-1, Compl. §Y 46, 47.) Indeed, Cannon’s original Complaint — filed well over a year before the
issuance of the Special Prosecutor’s Report — refers to many of the topics discussed in the July
2006 report. (See, e.g., Compl, 9§ 37-51, 55-58.} As such, Cannon’s argument that he did not
discover that he had any claims against Mayor Daley until August 2006 is refuted by his own
allegations. See Clay, 189 1ll.2d at 609, Therefore, Cannon’s discovery rule argument fails as a
matter of law. See id. The Court thus denies Cannon’s motion for leave to add Mayors Byrne

and Daley as Defendants because his claims against them are time-barred, and thus futile.?

* Because the underlying federal constitutional claims against Mayors Daley and Byrne
ate time-barred, Cannon’s federal conspiracy and purported equal protection claims based on
these constitutional claims are also time-barred. See Walden v. City of Chicago, 391 F.Supp.2d

9
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HI.  Additional Monell Allegations

In his proposed Amended Complaint, Cannon sets forth additional factual allegations in
support of his Monell claim. Besides adding new claims or defendants, parties generally seek to
amend pleadings to cure any deficiencies made in their carlier pleadings. See Sigsworih v, City
of durora, Ill., 487 F.3d 506, 512 (7th Cir. 2007). Although Cannon’s additional allegations
provide details to his Morelf claim, such additieﬁs are unnecessaiy because there are no pleading
deficiencies to cure. Furthermore, it is within the Court’s discretion to deny a plaintiffs leave to
amend if the proposed amendment fails to state a new claim or if the new allegations are merely
arguments or additional allegations supporting the original complaint. See 188 LLC v. Trinity
Indus., Inc., 300 F.3d 730, 739 (7th Cir. 2002), Moreover, any attempt to add these allegations
to circumvent the Court’s order bifurcating Monell discovery from the remainder of Cannon’s
claims would undoubtedly constitute bad faith. See Sound of Music, 477 F.3d at 922;

Fed R.Civ.P. 15(a). Therefore, the Court denies Cannon’s motion for leave to amend concerning
any additional Monell allegations.

Finally, the Court reminds Cannon that his Monell claims against the individual
Defendants in their official capacities are claims against the City as a Ioc.;:ll governmental unit.
See Kentucky v. Graham, 473 U.S. 159, 165-66, 105 S.Ct, 3099, 3105, 87 1..Ed.2d 114, 121
(1985) (citing Morell v, Deptartment of Soc. Servs. of New York, 436 U S. 658, 690, n.55, 98
S.Ct. 2018, 56 1..Bd.2d 611 (1978)). In other words, official capacity suits brought against

individuals are “another way of pleading an action against an entity of which an officer is an

660, 678 (N.D. Ill. 2005); Hobley v. Burge, No, 03 C 3678, 2004 WL 1243929, at *§ (N.D. 1lL
June 3, 2004); see alse Hill v. City of Chicago, No. 06 C 6722, 2007 WL 1424211, at *4 (N.D.
11l May 10, 2007). '

10
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agent.” Kentucky v. Graham, 473 U.S. at 165 (citation omitted). Accordingly, the City is the
only proper Defendant in Cannon’s Monell clain.
IV.  Additional Allegations Against State’s Attorney Devine & Other Named Defendants

A, Additional Factual Allegations

Cannon also seeks to add factual allegations concerning State’s Attorney Devine and
other named Defendants to already existing claims that survived Defendants’ motions to dismiss.
Again, the Court denies Cannon’s motion to add arguments and additional factual allegations in
support of his original Complaint. See Trinity Indus., Inc., 300 F.3d at 739. Turther, under the
federal notice pleading standards, Cannon’s additional factual allegations are unnecessary,
especially because notice pleading “relies on liberal discovery rules and summary judgment
motions to define disputed facts and issues and to dispose of unmeritorious claims,”
Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N. 4., 534 1.8, 500, 512, 122 S.Ct. 992, 995, 152 L.Ed.2d 1 (2002).

B. Failure fo Intervene

Cannon, however, also seeks to add State’s Attorney Devine and already named
Defendants to his due process claim (Count I), false arrest and imprisonment ¢laim (Count IT),
physical abuse/excessive force claim (Count I1T), and coercive interrogation claint (Count V)
based on Defendants’ alleged failure to prevent or intervene. (R. 175-2, Amend. Compl. {{ 142,
146, 151, 156.) Instead of addressing Cannon’s new allegations concerning Defendants® failure
to intervene, the County Defendants contend that Counts I, 11, TIT, and I'V are barred by the
Supreme Court’s decision in Wallace v. Kato, 127 5.Ct, 1091 (2007), an argument best left for
summary judgment, especially because the parties did not fully brief this issue in their legal

memoranda regarding Cannon’s Motion for Leave to File an Amended Complaint,

11
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Meanwhile, because Defendants fail to address Cannon’s new “failure to intervene”
claims, namely, that Defendants failed to stop Burge and other Area 2 officers from continuing
their coercive interrogations and that the Defendants failed to prevent Cannon’s wrongful arrest
and imprisonment, the Court, in its discretion, grénts Cannon leave to add his.failure to intervene
allegations to Cournts I,A 11, 11, and 1V of his original Complaini. The Court reminds Cannon that
under the liberal notice pleading standards, he must allege “a short and plain statement of the
claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief” giving Defendants “fair notice of what the
plaintiff’s claim is and the grounds upon which it rests.” See Fed R.Civ.P. 8(a}(2); Swierkiewicz,
534 U.S. at 506 (quoting Conley v. Gibson, 355U 8. 41, 47, 78 S.Ct. 99, 2 L.Ed.2d 80 (1957)).
Cannon must specifically name which “other named Defendants and co-conspirators™ failed to
intervene under Counts ITf and I'V to put these already named Defendants on notice of the claims
against them. (See Amend, Compl. 19 151, 156.)

C. Respondeat Superior & Indemnification

Finally, V‘Calmon seeks to add allegations that in addition to being an employee of Cook
County and the State’s Attorney’s Office, State’s Attorney Devine was also an employee of the
City because he was a “Special Assistant Corporation Counsel” and represented Defendant
Burge and his co-defendants. (See Amend. Compl. 5 14, 16.) Specifically, Cannon wants to
add State’s Attorney Devine in his capacity as a City employee to his respondeat superior {Count
XI) and indemnification ¢laims (Count XII). Although Defendants factually dispute Cannon’s

allegations that State’s Attorney Devine was an agent of the City, these factual disputes are best

12
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left for summary judgment or ftial,* "Therefore, the Court, in its discretion, grants Cannon leaye
to amend his Complaint to add State’s Attorney Devine as a City employee in Counts XTI and XII

of his Complaint.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court grants in part and denies in part Cannon’s Mation
for Leave to File an Amended Complaiunt.

Dated: August 8, 2007

ENTERED

United St*lte District Court Judge

% Although the Court granted the parties leave to file supplemental briefs, their additional
briefs make factual, not legal arguments. See Campania Mgmt. Co., Inc. v. Rooks, Pitts & Poust,
290 ¥F.3d 843, 848 (7th Cir. 2002) (rendition of facts parties intend to argue at trial are not proper
allegations under Rule 15(a)). As such, the Court need not address the parties” factual arguments
at this procedural posture. '

13

SA 58 of 76




Caseaho518+~- 0292 Domavort#: 4882Filed: 09/19M DBEGE200218 Hagedd #9246

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN BISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION
DARRELL CANNON, )
Plaintiff, g
V. ; Case No. 05C 2192
FORMER CHICAGO POLICE LT. JON g
BURGE, et al., )
Defendants. ;

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

AMY J. ST. EVE, District Court Judge:

In his First Amended Complaint, Plaintiff Darrell Cannon (“Cannon™) alleges that certain
City of Chicago employees and the City itself (hereinafter “the City Defendants™) violated his
civil rights by torturing him during interrogations held at the Chicago Police Department’s Area
2 Detective Division under the direction of Former Chicago Police Lieutenant Jon Burge. More
specifically, Cannon alleges that on November 2, 1983, Defendant Chicago Police Officers Jon
Byrne, Peter Dignan, and Charles Grunhard tortured and coerced him into confessing to his
involvement in the murder -of Darrin Ross. His constifutional ¢laims against the City Defendants
include: (1) deprivation of the right to a fair trial (Count I); (2} false arrest and false
imprisonment (Count 1I); (3) torture and physical abuse (Count ilI}; (4) coercive inferrogation
(Count IV); and (5) a Menell policy claim (Count VI)., See 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Cannon’s state
law claims against the City Defendants include: (1) false arrest and imprisonment (Count VII);
(2) malicious prosecution (Count VIIL); (3) intentional infliction of emotional distress (Count
[X); (4) conspiracy (Count X); (5) respondeat superior {Count XI); and (6) indemnification

(Count XII).
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Before the Court is the City Defendants” Motion for Summary Judgment pursuant to
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(b)." After the parties completed their briefing, the Court
conducted oral argament on September 1, 2011. The Court also asked the parties for additional
briefing concerning Plaintiff’s unconscionability defense. Based on the parties’ briefs, the
record, and oral argument, the Court grants the City Defendants’ summary judgment motion as
discussed in detail below.

BACKGROUND

On October 26, 1983, Darrin Ross was shot and killed, and on November 2, 1983,
Chicago police officers arrested and charged Cannon in connection with Ross® murder. (R. 361,
Defs.” Rule 56.1 Stmt. Facts §{ 12, 13.) Cannon claims that Defendant Chicago Police Officers
Byrne, Dignan, and Grunhard tortured and coerced him into confessing to the Ross murder by
performing mock executions, attempting to suspend him in the air while handcuffed, and by
using an electric cattle prod, among othet methods. (/. § 14; R, 381, PL.’s Rule 56.1 Stmt. Add’]
Facts ] 1, 2, 4.) On November 7, 1983, Cannon lodged a complaint with the Office of
Professional Standards (“OPS”) after which OPS opened an investigation into Cammon’s

allegations of torture and abuse.? (Defs.” Stmt. Facts 4 15; P1’s Stmt. Facts 9 5.)

! The Court will discuss the Cook County Defendants’ summary judgment motion in a
separate order.

2 At the time of the incident underlying this lawsuit, the Chicago Police Department’s
Office of Professional Standards (“OPS™) was responsible for investigating excessive force
complaints against Chicago police officers. In September 2007, the City removed OPS from the
Chicago Police Department and-reorganized it as separate department — the Independent Police
Review Authority (“IPRA”™) — which reports directly to the Mayor of the City of Chicago.

2
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In the meantime, attorney Ronald Himel represented Cannon in his criminal proceedings
and filed a motion to suppress Cannon’s confession, (Defs.” Stmt. Facts § 16, 18.) At the
March 1984 suppression hearing in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Defendant Officers Byrne,
Dignan, and Grunhard denied that they participated or witnessed Cannon’s abuse and torfure.
(P1.’s Stmt. Facts §6.) Thereafter, the trial court denied Cannon’s motion to suppress, after
which a jury convicted Cannon of Ross” mutder and the trial court sentenced him to natural life
in prison. (Pl.’s Stmt. Facts § 7; Defs.” Stmt. Facts §23.) That same year, Defendants Byrne,
Dignan, Grunhard, Michael Bosco, and Ray Binkowski provided statements to OPS denying
participating or witnessing Cannon’s torture and abuse. (PL’s Stmt. Facts § 3.)

In September 1986, Cannon filed a pro se complaint in the United States District Court
for the Northern District of Illinois pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against Defendant Officers
Byrne, Dignan, and Grunhard alleging violations of his constitutional rights in connection with
their use of excessive force on November 2, 1983, (Pl.’s Stmt. Facts § 9; Defs.” Stmt. Facts
34.) In his pro se complaint, Cannon sought $15,000 in damages, as well as “such other and
further relief as this Court may deem just and proper,” (R, 391-3, Ex. 5, Compl.) The presiding
district court judge, Judge William T. Hart, appointed attorney Paul Lanphier to represent
Cannon in his 1986 federal lawsuit. (P1’s Stmt, Facts § 9; Defs.” Stmt. Facts  38.) Lanphier
conducted written discovery and took the depositions of Defendants Byrne, Dignan, and
Grunhard, along with the deposition of Chicagoe Police Officer Daniel McWeeny. (PL’s Stmt.
Facts 1 9; Defs,” Stmt. Facts §42.) When deposing Byrne, Dignan, Grunhard, and McWeeny,
Lanphier never questioned these officers about other allegations of torture at Area 2. (Defs.’

Stmt. Facts  43.)
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In January 1988, Lanphier sent Cannon a letter recommending that Cannon accept a
settlement offer of $3,000 to which Cannon agreed. (P1.’s Stmt. Facts {12, 13; Defs.” Stmt.
Facts 4 48.) Lanphier explained to Cannon that the likelihood of success in his case was
nonexistent due to witness credibility, namely, that a jury would not accept his version of the
facts because Cannon had a criminal record. (P1.’s Stmt. Facts § 12.) On February 8, 1988,
Cannon entered into a settlement agreement and stipulation (“1998 Stipulation™) accepting
$3,000 in exchange for dismissing the excessive force action. (PL’s Stmt. Facts § 14; Defs.’
Stmt. Facts  50.) The 1998 Stipulation provided in televant part:

Plaintiff agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City of Chicago, its officers,

agents and employees including, but not [imited to, the remaining Defendant,

from any claims, losses, damages or expenses incurred or which may be incurred,

by reason of the incident which was the basis of the litigation....

Plaintiff understands, upon advice of his counsel, and agrees that such Judgment

is a final and total settlement of all claims he has, or may have in the future,

arising either directly or indirectly out of the incident which was the basis of this

litigation, and that such finality is applicable to the remaining Defendant, the

CITY OF CHICAGO, its officers, agents and employees.

(Defs’ Stmt. Facts [51.) It is undisputed that Cannon testified that he knew when he signed the
1988 Stipulation that he was agreeing to the settlement, that the lawsuit would be ending, and
that no one forced him to sign it. (/. Y 53.) Pursuant to the 1988 Stipulation, Judge Hart entered
judgment in favor of Cannon and against Defendants on February 8, 1988. (Id. 1 36.)

Meanwhile, on appeal from his criminal conviction, the Illinois Appellate Court affirmed
the denial of Cannon’s motion to suppress, but remanded his case for a hearing on the State’s use
of peremptory challenges. See People v. Cannon, 150 1ll.App.3d 1009, 104 Ill.Dec. 82, 502
N.E.2d 345 (1st Dist. 1986). After holding a Bafson hearing, the trial court ordered a new trial at

which Cannon moved to suppress his confession arguing that Area 2 police officers tortured not

4
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only him, but other suspects into confessing. (Defs.” Stmt. Facts .69, 71; P1.’s Stmt, Facts
22.) The trial court did not revisit the question of whether Cannon’s confession was voluntary at
the 1994 re-trial. See Peo_ple v. Cannon, 293 111.App.3d 634, 635, 227 111.Dec, 1000, 688 N.E.2d
693 (1st Dist. 1997). Thereafter, the jury found Cannon guilty of Ross” murdet and the trial
court sentenced Cannon to natural life in prison. (Pl.’s Stmt. Facts 724.)

On appeal from the 1994 conviction, the Illinois Appellate Court vacated Cannon’s
conviction and sentence and remanded his case to the trial court for a hearing on the
voluntariness of Cannon’s confession. See Cannon, 293 IILApp.3d at 635, The State ultimately
dismissed the charges against Cannon on April 22, 2004, (PL’s Stmt, Facts 125.)

SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

Summary judgment is appropriate “if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute
as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed.R.Civ.P,
56(&). A genuiné dispute as to any material fact exists if “the evidence is such that a reasonable
jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S.
242, 248, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 2510, 91 1., Bd. 2d 202 (1986). In determining summary judgment
motions, “facts must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party only if there
is a ‘genuine’ dispute as to those facts.” Scoft v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 380, 127 S.Ct. 1769, 167
L.Ed.2d 686 (2007). The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of establishing that
there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact, See Celofex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.8. 317,
323, 106 S. Ct, 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986). After “a properly supported motion for summary
judgment is made, the adverse party ‘must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine

issue for rial.”” Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255 (quotation omitted).
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ANALYSIS

At issue in this summary judgment motion is whether Cannon’s 1988 Stipulation
prohibits all of Cannon’s claims against the City Defendants in the present lawsuit, In the
Court’s February 2, 2006, Memorandum, Opinion, and Order granting in part and denying in
part Defendants® Rule 12(b}6) motion to dismiss, the Court concluded that the 1988 Stipulation
is “clear, unambiguous, and specific” and covers the remaining “causes of action plaintiff
currently brings before the Court.” (R. 88, 2/2/06, Mem., Op., & Order, at 11, 13.) The relevant
section of the February 2, 2006 Memorandum, Opinion, and Order states:

Because the 1988 Stipulation is clear, unambiguous and gpesific, the Court will
look to the document itself to determine its meaning and the parties’ intent. See
Rakowski, 104 111.2d at 323, 472 N.E.2d at 794, 84 111, Dec. at 657; see aiso
Ainsworth Corp. v. Cenco Inc., 158 IIL. App. 3d 639, 650, 511 N.E.2d 1149, 1156,
110 IIt. Dec. 829, 836 (1st Dist. 1987); Crown Corr, Inc. v. Wil-Freds Constr.,
Inc., No. 94-6535, 2000 WL 1809996, at *3 (N.D. II1, Dec, 11, 2000); Rail-Ways,
Ine. v. Indiana & Kensington R.R. Co., No. 95-1526, 1998 WL 792481, at *4
(N.D. I11. Nov. 9, 1998). The 1988 Stipulation, on its face, releases all claims that
arise directly or indirectly from the “incident.” The 1986 complaint makes clear
that the “incident” is Byrne’s, Dignen’s and Grunhard’s treatment of Plaintiff on
November 2, 1983. (R. 28-1; City Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss, Ex, C at 3.) Likewise,
Plaintiff’s treatment on November 2, 1983 serves as the basis for the Complaint.
{(See, e.g., R. 1-1; Compl. at §{ 18-30.) Because the “incident” serves as the basis
for the Complaint, the twelve causes of action Plaintiff asserts in it necessarily
arise either directly or indirectly from the “incident.” Therefore, the 1988
Stipulation, on its face, purports to cover those causes of action.

({d. at 11-12.}
Because the Court has already concluded that the 1988 Stipulation covers the claims in
the present lawsuit, the Court turns to Cannon’s arguments that the 1988 Stipulation is invalid

based on Defendants’ fraudulent concealment and the docirine of unconscionability.
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L Fraudukent Corcealment

First, Cannon argues that the 1988 Stipulation is invalid and unenforceable based on the
City Defendants fraudulently concealing facts regarding the alleged excessive force and torture
underlying Cannon’s 1986 civil rights lawsuit, Under Illinois law, a “settlement agreement is in
the nature of a contract and is governed by principles of contract law.” K4 Enter., Inc. v. Grater,
Inc., 394 Hl.App.3d 307, 313, 333 Ili.j)ec. 198, 914 N.E.2d 617 (1st Dist. 2009). In Illinois,
“Iplublic policy strongly favors the freedom to contract” and “[s]ettlement agreements are
encouraged and should be given their full force and effect.” Green v. Safeco Life Ins. Co., 312
HLApp.3d 577, 581, 245 1ll.Dec. 140, 727 N.E.2d 393 (5th Dist. 2000}, “Once the defendant
e.stablishes the existence of a release, legal and binding on its face, the burden shifts to the
plaintiff to prove it invalid by clear and convincing evidence.” Hurd v. Wildman, Harrold, Allen
& Dixon, 303 Hi.App.3d 84, 89, 236 [ll.Dec. 482, 486, 707 N.E.2d 609, 613 (1st Dist. 1999).
“Even where the patties intend to release a specific claim, the release of that claim will not be
enforced if there has been fraud, duress, mutual mistake, or, at least in some cases,
unconscionability.” Carlile v. Snap-on Tools, 271 IL.App.3d 833, §39, 207 Ill.Dec. 861, 866,
648 N.E.2d 317, 322 (4th Dist. 1995); see also Dugan v. R.J. Corman R. Co., 344 F.3d 662, 667
(7th Cir. 2003) (“In the absence of fraud, mistake, unconscionability, or like defenses, a person is
bound by all provisions in a contract.”).

The Seventh Circnit’s decision in Bell v. City of Milwaukee, 746 ¥.2d 1205 (7th Cir.
1984), rev'd on other grounds, Russ v. Watts, 414 F.3d 783 (7th Cir., 2005), lends guidance to the
Court’s analysis. In Bell, the Seventh Circuit affirmed the Eastern District of Wisconsin’s

conclusion that a settlement agreement did not bar a constitutional claim of access to courts
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because the record was replete with allegations of fraud, concealment, and a broad-based cover-
up. See id. at 1227. As the Seventh Circuit later explained, the “cornerstone of our decision in
Bell was that the conspiracy had prevented a full and open disclosure of facts crucial to the cause
of action, rendering hollow the plaintiffs’ right of access.” Vasguez v. Hernandez, 60 F.3d 325,
329 (7th Cir, 1995).

Here, Cannon argues that there are material questions of fact for trial whether the 1988
Stipulation is unenforceable because the City Defendants fraudulently concealed information
from Cannon to induce him to enter into the 1988 Stipulation. Unlike the situation in Bell —in
which the police shot and killed the victir in their attempt fo arrest him — Cannon had first-hand
knowledge of his torture and abuse underlying his Fourth Amendment excessive force claim at
the time he filed his 1986 federal lawsuit. See Bell, 746 F.2d at 1228; see also Thompson v.
Boggs, 33 F.3d 847, 852-53 (7th Cir. 1994) (because plaintiff “was personally involved in the
incident and thus had firsthand knowledge of all the facts and circumstances surrounding his
arrest” he was not prevented from bringing his civil rights claim). To clarify, in Bell, the
arresting officers’ fraudulent concealment of the facts crucial to the victim’s constitutional claim
prohibited the victim’s relatives and estate from pursuing his constitutional claim. See id. at
1228. In other words, the police officers’ concealment of the facts prevented the victim’s family
from realizing that they had a cause of action in the first instance, See id.; Thompson, 33 F.3d at

852.

* In fact, at oral argument, Cannon’s counsel admitted that Cannon knew the facts
surrounding his own constitutional violation, namely, that Cannon knew he had been tortured.

-8
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In the present matter, there is evidence in the record that Cannon, his criminal defense
attorney, and his attorney in his 1986 civil action all knew that Area 2 police officers had abused
and tortured Cannon and others well before Cannon entered into the 1988 Stipulation. In his
October 20, 2010 deposition, for example, Cannon testified that because certain Defendants took
him to “a torture site and tortured me like they did, it did not — I did not get the impression that 1
was the first one that they had ever done that to.” (Defs.” Stmt. Facts § 36; R. 363-11, Ex. K,
Camnon Dep., at 527.) Cannon further testified that he never believed from day one that he was
the only person Defendant Officers tortured. (Defs.” Stmt. Facts §f 36, Cannon Dep., at 545.) In
addition, Cannon’s criminal defense attorney Ronald lHimel testified that at the time of Cannon’s
criminal proceedings, he was aware of Andrew Wilson’s complaint of abuse and torture by Area
2 police detectives.! (Defs.’ Stmt. Facts Y 17; R. 363-2, Ex. B, Himel Dep., at 13-14.} Also, at
Cannon’s March 15, 1984 suppression hearing, Himel argued on the record that “[t]his was not
the first time the allegations have been raised as to Area 2 Violent Crimes using an electronic
devise to shock defendants.” (Defs.” Stmt. Facts §20,) Additional evidence in the record shows
that Cannon told his appointed attorney, Paul Lanphier, to look into Defendant Police Officers’
arrests reports to see how many cases ended in confessions or charges of torture, {(Id. § 41.)
Cannon also wrote to Lanphier in 1987 and explained that Defendant Police Officers tortured
him and others. (/. § 46.) In this letter, Cannon sent Lanphier newspaper clippings regarding
Defendants Officers Byrne and Dignan that included allegations of their abuse and torture of
arrestees, (Jd.) In Cannon’s January 24, 1983 letier to Lanphier accepting the settlement offer,

he stated that despite settling this claim, Defendant Officers Byrne, Dignan, and Grunhard would

4 See People v. Wilson, 116 111.2d 29, 106 Tll.Dec. 771, 506 N.E.2d 571 (11, 1987).
9
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continue to torture others. (/d. § 48.)

Based on this evidence, Cannon and his counsel were aware of his allegations of abuse
and torture during the pendency of his criminal and civil cases, as well as other allegations of
abuse and torture by Area 2 police officers. Therefore, unlike the plaintiffs in Bell, because it is
undisputed that Cannon had first-hand knowledge of his excessive force claim and knowledge
that others were tortured at that time, the fact that Cannon and his counsel did not know the full
gxtent of torture and abuse at the Chicago Police Department”s Area 2 Headquarters did not
prohibit Cannon from bringing his excessive force claim in 1986. See Chicago Export Packing
Co. v. Teledyne Indus., Inc., 207 TILApp.3d 659, 663, 152 Il1.Dec. 639, 566 N.E.2d 326 (Ist Dist.
1990) (“A person may not enter into a transaction with his eyes closed to available information
and then charge that he has been deceived by anothet™).

Even if Cannon and his attotneys were completely unaware of the other allegations of
abuse and torture by Area 2 detectives, Cannon has failed to present evidence that there is a
genuine dispute as to any material fact that the City Defendants fraudulently concealed
information from him in order to induce him to enter into the 1988 Stipulation. Under Illinois
law, a party commits fraud if he knowingly misrepresents the iruth or conceals a material fact in
order to intentionally induce another to act to his detriment. See People v. Montoya, 373
[ILApp.3d 78, 82, 311 Ill.Dec. 389, 868 N.E.2d 389 (2d Dist. 2007) (citing Black’s Law
Dictionary 670 (7th ed. 1999)); see also Hassan v. Yusuf, 408 Il App.3d 327, 343, 348 I1l.Dec.
654, 944 NLE.2d 895 (1st Dist. 2011) (“Fraud may be perpetrated by a misrepresentation or by

concealment.”).

10
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Here, Cannon does not argue that Defendant Officers committed affirmative acts or made
representations to conceal information intended to induce him into settling his 1986 civil rights
action, Indeed, at oral argument, Cannon’s counsel could not identify any specific
misrepresentations made by Defendants. Instead, Cannon argues that because he was deprived
evidence of the extensive Area 2 cover-up of abuse and torture, he could not attack the
credibility of Defendant Officers Byrne, Dignan, and Grunhard, and thus he took his counsel’s
advice to settle his lawsuit. More specifically, Cannon argues that he “was induced to settle the
1986 case because Paul Lanphier, his court-appointed attorney, told him that there was no way
that Plaintiff could overcome the credibility of the three officer defendants and impeach their
denials.” (R. 384, Resp. Brief, at 16.) Lanphier also informed Cannon that due to his conviction
record, it would be unlikely that a jury would accept his version of the facts. (PL’s Stmt. Facis §
12.) Although the Court must construe the facts and all reasonable inferences in Cannon’s favor
at this procedural posture, Lanphier’s advice to Cannon does not create a genuine dispute as to
any material fact that Defendant Officers intentionally induced Cannon into seftling the 1986
lawsuit. See Springer v. Durflinger, 518 F.3d 479, 484 (7th Cir. 2008) (“[1]t is well-settled that
speculation may not be used to manufacture a genuine issue of fact.”) (internal quotation marks
omitted); see also Leitgen v. Franciscan Skemp Hedlthcare, Inc., 630 F.3d 668, 675 (7th Cir,
201 1‘) (inferences that are too attenuated cannot survive summary judgment). And, although
there is evidence in the record that Defendant Officers denied torturing Cannon at the March
1984 suppression hearing and in their 1984 OPS statements, their denial does not amount to
concealment because Cannon was well aware of the facts surrounding his torture and abuse.

Moreover, regarding the other instances of torture, Cannon has not produced any evidence that

11
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his attorney ever asked Defendants about other instances of torture during the discovery in hig
1986 civil rights lawsuit, thus Cannon has failed to explain how Defendants could have
misrepresented or concealed these facts when Cannon’s counsel never asked for them in the first
instance. Therefore, Cannon’s argument that the 1988 Stipulation is unenforceable based on
Defendants® fraudulent concealment fails.
1L, Unconscionability

Next, Cannon argues that the 1988 Stipulation is unconscionable, and therefore,
unenforceable under Illinois law. See Razor v. Hyundai Motor Am., 222 111.2d 75, 99, 305
Ill.Dec, 15, 854 N.E.2d 607 (Il1. 2006} (“A determination of whether a confractual clause is
unconscionable is a matter of faw, to be decided by the court™). “A contract is unconscionable
when it is improvident, oppressive, or totally one-sided.” Streams Sports Club, Ltd, v.
Richmond, 99 111.2d 182, 191, 75 Hl.Dec. 667, 673, 457 N.E.2d 1226, 1232 (I1l. 1983). More
specifically, “[u]nder IHlinois law, a contract maylbe found to be unconscionablé as a matter of
law on either a ‘procedural’ or ‘substantive’ basis, or both.” Esfate of Davis v. Wells Fargo
Bank, 633 F.3d 529, 535 (7th Cir. 2011); see also Phoenix Ins. Co. v. Rosen, 242 111.2d 48, 60,
350 Ill.Dec. 847, 949 N.E.2d 639 (Ill. 2011). “Procedural unconscionability refers to a situation
in which a term is so difficult to find, read, or understand that the party could not fairly be said to
have been aware she was agreeing to it” and “takes into account the party’s relative lack of
bargaining power.” Estate of Davis, 633 F.3d at 535; see also Kinkel v. Cingular Wireless LLC,
223 T11.2d 1, 23, 306 Ill.Dee. 157, 857 N.E.2d 250 (I1L. 2006} (“Procedural unconscionability
consists of some impropriety during the process of forming the contract depriving a party of a

meaningful choice.”) (citation omitted). “Factors to be considered in determining whether an
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agreement is procedurally unconscionable include whether each party had the opportunity to
understand the terms of the contract, whether important terms were ‘hidden in a maze of fine
print,” and all of the circumstances surrounding the formation of the contract.” Phoenix Ins. Co.,
242 111.2d at 60 (citation omitted). “Substantive unconscionability, on the other hand, refers to
contractual terms which are inordinately one-sided in one patty’s favor.” Estate of Davis, 633
F.3d at 535; see also Kinkel, 223 11.2d at 28 (“Substantive unconscionability concerns the actual
terms of the contract and examines the relative fairness of the obligations assumed.”) {citation
omitted).

In his response brief, Cannon first argues that the 1988 Stipﬁlation is unconscionable
based on his lack of bargaining power, which falls under procedural unconscionability. See
Estate of Davis, 633 F.3d at 535; Razor, 222 111.2d at 99, Under Illinois law, in determining
procedural unconscionability, the Court looks to the circumstances surrouriding the 1988
Stipulation, whether the parties had a reasonable opportunity to understand the terms of the
contract, and whether important terms were hidden. See Phoenix Ins. Co., 242 111.2d at 60. Not
only was Cannon represented by counsel in the 1986 civil proceedings, it is also undisputed that
Cannon testified that he knew when he signed the 1988 Stipulation that he was agreeing to the
settlement, that the lawsuit would be ending, and that no one forced him to sign it. (Defs.” Stmt.
Facts 1 53.) Moreover, in Cannon’s January 24, 1988 letter to Lanphier accepting the settlement
offer, he stated that despite settling this claim, he kanew that Defendant Officers Byrne, Dignan,
and Grunhard would continue to torfure others. (/. §48.) Therefore, the record reflects that the
settlement was reached knowingly and voluntarily and based on the facts known to Cannon at

the time of the settlement. See McWhite v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc’y, 141 TILApp.3d 855,
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867, 96 1ll.Dec. 105, 490 N.E.2d 1310 (1st Dist. 1986). And, as discussed above, although
Cannon may not have known the breadth of the Area 2 officers” misconduct, he and his counsel
were certainly aware that other alleged incidents of torfure had occurred prior to his 1988
Stipulation and settlement of his excessive force claim. Accordingly, Cannon has not raised a
material issue of fact that he had unequal bargaining power under the circumstances. See Kinkel,
223 111.2d at 24 (“the issue of unconscionability should be examined with reference to all of the
circumstances surrounding the transaction”). Even if Cannon had raised a material issue of fact
for trial based on the alleged disparity of bargaining power, “Illinois courts have been reluctant
to hold that the inequality in bargaining power alone suffices to invalidate an otherwise
enforceable agreement.” Melena v. Anheuser-Busch, Ine., 219 111,2d 135, 153, 301 IlL.Dec. 440,
847 N.E.2d 99 (II1. 2006).

Cannon also argues that the 1988 Stipulation is unconscionable substantively because the
stipulation is completely one-sided, oppressive, and created a manifestly unfair outcome. More
specifically, Cannon maintains that settling for $3,000 is disproportionate to the amount of
torture he experienced and that other victims of Area 2 torture settled for significantly more
money approximately iwo decades later.” Specifically, Cannon states:

The settlements in the Stanley Howard, Madison Hobley, Aaron Patierson and

Leroy Orange torture suits, in which the torture claims were closely analogous to

that raised by Plaintiff, indicate that the Stipulation was utterly discordant with

the “market value” of Plaintiff’s claims and provide potent evidence of

substantive unconscionability. Plaintiff’s 1988 settlement sum is less by several

orders of magnitude than the $1.8 million settlement paid to Stanley Howard in

2003, and it pales still further in comparison to the multi-millions awarded to
Patterson, Hobley, and Orange —all of whom settled theit torture cases with the

% See, e.g., Hobleyv. Burge, No. 03 C 3678, Patterson v. Burge, No. 03 C 4433, Howard
v. Chicago, No. 03 C 8481, and Orange v. Burge, No. 04 C 0168,
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City after the scope of the Burge torture became known,
(R. 426, Sur-Reply, at 5.)

In support of his “market value” argument, Cannon relies upon Illinois cases involving
settlements in the context of divorce cases. See, e.g., In re Marriage of McNeil, 367 1. App.3d
676, 305 11l.Dec. 483, 856 N.E.2d 15 (2d Dist. 2006); In re Marriage of Richardson, 237
NLApp.3d 1067, 179 11l.Dec. 224, 606 N.E.2d 56 (1st Dist 1992). Cannon’s reliance on Illinois
divorce cases is misplaced becaunse they involve the Illinois courts’ statutory interpretation of a
provision in the Illinois Mattiage and Dissolution Act, 750 ILCS 5/502(b), that relates to the
parties’ economic positions. See In re Marriage of McNeii, 367 L. App.3d at 684; In re
Marviage of Richardson, 237 11l.App.3d at 1080,

In further support of his market value theory, Cannon cites an [llinois case discussing
mutual mistake, See, e.g., Florkiewicz v. Gonzalez, 38 [ll.App.3d 115, 121, 347 N.E.2d 401, 406
(1st Dist. 1976) (“A. significant factor indicating mistake on the part of plaintiff as to the nature
of her injuries is the amount of money accepted as consideration for the release.”).5 As the
Tllinois Appellate Court explains:

When the circumstances surrounding a settlement clearly indicate that seitlement

was executed under a mutual mistake of fact, the court may act to prevent an

unconscionable hardship to the injured party; among such circumstances are a

great discrepaticy between the amount of the settlement and the amount of

ensuing damages, the exercise of pressure to make the settlement, the superior

position of an affluent defendant over a needy plaintiff, and the cccurrence of an
unforeseen and extraordinary complication in the known injuries.

¢ Cannon also cites an Illineis Appellate Court decision from 1977 involving an
ambiguity in a general release, namely, whether the release pertained to the plaintiff’s property
damage and/or personal injuries. See Gladinus v. Laughlin, 51 IIl.App.3d 694, 697, 9 1ll.Dec.
173, 176, 366 N.E.2d 430 (1stDist, 1977). Cannon’s reference to the Gladinus decision is not
helpful to the Court’s unconscionability analysis nor to Cannon’s market value theory.
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Wieneke v. Weitekamp, 229 HLApp.3d 520, 524, 170 Tll.Dec. 616, 593 N.E.2d 158 (5th Dist.
1992); see also Florkiewicz, 38 TILApp.3d at 121. Under Illinois law, a mutual mistake of fact
exists when a contract has been drafted in terms that violates both parties’ true intent and
understanding. See First Health Group Corp. v. Ruddick, 393 T.App.3d 40, 53, 331 Ill.Dec.
971, 911 N.E.2d 1201 (1st Dist. 2009); United City of Yorkville v. Village of Sugar Grove, 376
IILApp.3d 9, 25, 314 Ill.Dec. 896, 875 N.E.2d 1183 (2d Dist. 2007). Here, the parties have not
presented any evidence creating an issue of material fact for trial showing that both parties were
mutvally mistaken as to the terms of the 1988 Stipulation, Thus, under the circumstances,
Cannon has not established that the 1988 Stipulation is unenforceable based on mutual mistake.

The Court nevertheless turns to Cannon’s unconscionability argument based on the
settlement amounts in Hobley, Orange, Patterson, and Howard cases. Although an
“unconscionability determination is not restricted to the facts and circumstances in existence at
the time the contract was entered into,” see Razor, 222 111.2d at 97, comparing subsequent
settlement amounts from similar, but different lawsuits in which the parties settled approximately
twenty years after the 1988 Stipulation would run counter to Ilinois public policy of
encouraging the finality of settlements. See In re Tummy D, 339 111 App.3d 419, 423, 274
1l.Dec, 34, 790 N.E.2d 410 (5th Dist. 2003) (“The public policy of Illinois favors setilements in
civil cases, and settlements, once made, should be final.”}; see also Brown v, City of Aurora, 955
F.Supp. 1023,. 1025 (N.D. IIl. 1997) (“Merely because [plaintiff] now believes, in hindsight, that
her case was worth more than $15,000 is not a sufficient basis to disregard the agreement entered
into by the parties™); Cf. Freedman v. Air Line Stewards & Stewardesses Assoc., Local 550,

TWU, AFL-CIO, 730 F.2d 509, 515-16 (7th Cir. 1984) (“That one party in hindsight would have

16

SA 74 of 76




CasBati5HeviIRID2 Dboumentrs: 4882 Filed: 0SHeH DBIGGE0N Bf 18MREgeIDAR9262

been better off in pursuing its remedies through litigation does not now justify a modification of
the terms of that settlement. Such a modification at this juncture and under these circumstances
would also significantly undermine the judicial policy of encouraging settlements™). As the
Lllinois Appellate Court explained in the context of a worker’s compensation legal malpractice
claim, “[sJubsequent ot concurrent developments in the law would always opetate to provide the
dissatisfied party a ground to revisit an agreement, which at the time was satisfactory but in
retrospect became burdensome or undesirable. Such a result would run counter to the public
policy of this State.” Cameron v. Bogusz, 305 lll.App.3d 267, 274, 238 1ll.Dec. 533, 7 11 N.E.2d
1194 (1st Dist, 1999). Likewise, revisiting the terms of the 1988 Stipulation based on the
subsequent, higher settlement amounts in similar cases from over twenty years later not only
goes against public policy, but would open the flood gates of dissatisfied litigants filing lawsuits
to void settlement agreements, |

As discussed in detail above, Cannon was aware of the facts of his own excessive force
case, as well as other allegations of abuse and torture at Area 2. He also testified at his October
11, 2010 deposition that he was with the victim, Darrin Ross, on the day of Ross’ murder, that he
was driving the car when Ross was shot and killed, and that he helped another person dispose of
Ross’ body. (R. 436-1, Ex. K, Cannon Dep., at 20, 174, 223-30.) Cannon also knew of his own
- gang affiliations at the time he entered into the 1988 Stipulation, (see id. at 36), and that he had
prior eriminal convictions. In addition, in his 1986 complaint, Cannon sought $15,000 in
damages. Under these circu;‘ns‘tances, the Court would be hard-pressed to conclude that the 1988
Stipulation was unconscionable based on the $3,000 settlement — relative to his initial request of

$15,000 — because Cannon was aware of the shortcomings of his case, the facts surrounding his
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claims, was represented by counsel, and knowingly and voluntarily entered into the 1988
- Stipulation. See, e.g., Bullockv. O'Hara, No. 95 C 4641, 1996 WL 495560, at *2 (N.D. IIL. Aug.
27, 1996).

The Court acknowledges that Cannon spent approximately twenty-three years in prison
before his criminal charges were dismissed. Also, the Court recognizes the offensive,
unacceptable systemic police torture that has ocourred in Chicago as outlined by the 2006
Special Prosecutor’s Report and the resultant federal investigation and prosecution and
conviction of Burge. Nevertheless, under the circumstances, the Court is not in the position to

“extend Illinois contract law to allow Cannon’s lawsuit against the City of Defendants given that
Cannon already settled with the City Defendants in 1988,

On a final note, because the Court concludes that Cannon has failed to establish a
genuine dispute as to any material fact concerning his fraudulent concealment and
unconscionability arguments, the Counrt need not address the City Defendants’ ratification and
statute of limitations arguments.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court grants the City Defendants’ Motion for Summary ’
Judgment brought pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(b). The Court denies
Defendants’ motion to strike the declaration of Flint Taylor as moot.

Date: September 19, 2011

E

RED

A E
AMY J. ST} {?;E
United States District Court Judge
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